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HANWELL CASTLE, BANBURY.
Tel. Wroxton St.Mary L0.

Dear Mr. Brennan,

I now enclose the MS. I promised you which

describes the work of the Peace with Ireland Council

1920-1921.

Mrs. Berkeley has typed it for me, and
apologises for deficiencies, as ours is an old-

machine.

This narrative was written in Rome in the year
1921 when I was there for a rest after the First
Great War. It‘was due simply to a determination
that the whole truth of the story should always be

kniown.,

You will see that it was not meant to be
published. In it I have left facts which have no
importance, simply to complete the picture. For
instance, in chapter II there are small dgtails of
no interest; but they give a complete picture of a

very good patriot - old Lord Monteagle.

I should 1like to repeat what I told you when
I called on you last month, namely, that the MS is
exactly as it stood when I wrote it then. The few
small additions I have made are dated (1954) for

clearness sake.

Finally: .
I testify that the typewritten copy

enclosed is a true and exact copy of my MS.
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You will of course send me a formal receipt
for it; and I should be glad to have from you in
writing the assurance that it is confidential and

would not be published without my consent.

With all good wishes from Mrs. Berkeley and
myself,
I am,

Yours sincerely,

(Signed) GEORGE F-H. BERKELEY.

Looking back on it now, what interests me
most is what I wrote during my fortnight in
Ireland. It is a description of such an

extraprdinﬁry war!

It is hard to find an exact parallel: both
sides spoke the same language and yet it is not
a civil war. It was a war of liberation drawn
.out over centuries in which the weaker nation
had not the slighfest chance of victory. _I do
not know of any similar case unless it be that of
the German Swiss cantons winning their freedonm
from Austria - and when I made my several speeches
in 1921 it was from Swigs history that I took my
theme - "This is the Spirit of Freedom" - and I

told them the story of the Oath of Rutli.

When I called on you, you sald that you would

be making several coples of "My Three Months in

Belfast 1914%. 1 have only my original rough-

CODPY . I shéuld be very glad of two typed coples.
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Would you let me know if you can do this and how
mach it would cost?

(Intld.) Go F"Hl Bu
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STATEMENT BY GECRGE F-H. BERKELEY,

Hanwell Castle, Near Banbury,
Oxfordshire, England.

My Experiences'With The Peace With Ireland Movement

1920 - 192].

FOREWORD

Hotel Bristol,

Rome.

November, 1921.

2

In September last, only a few weeks after the
declaration of the Truce with Ireland, I was obliged,

owing to Mrs. Berkeley's state of health, to give wup

‘all my political interests and wend my way to Italy.

Since then I have allotted some of my time almost
every day to writing out an account of my doings during
the last year; that is to say during the time when I
was devoﬁing all my life to working for the Peace w;th

Ireland Council.

For several reasons it seemed to me worth while

noting down these dolngs:

1. Firstly because I know that their record
will interest me in years to come, if those years find

me still upon the earth.

2. Secondly because I belleve that the period

covered will be considered very important, and I had
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some opportunity for seeing it from both sides and also

from inside.

Living as I did at my Club, I used to hear every
evening the most ultra;Conservative statements, after
spending my whole day in working for the opposition.

Now it seems to me very clear that these two execrated
years of 1920 and 1921 will undoubtedly form a turning-
point in our develdpment. They mark the re-arising of
the Irish nation. They mark the first genuine
agreemenf between Ireland and England. And finally,

let us hope, they mark the last civil war that will ever -
be seen in the British Isles. I say nothing of the
expected new era with regard to.America aﬁd the

Colonies. Any record, therefore, however rough,
superficial or scrappy, will probably have some slight
interest for future historians. After all it represents

a contemporary experience in a very interesting time.

This account unfortunately is all about myself.
It could not be otherwise. I have not got the
material here to write a history of the Qeace with
Ireland movement, but havé simply Jjotted down my own .
recollections of the various things whieh I did or
attempted to do, and find that they have fallen more or
less naturally into chapters. If T had only been able
to keep a diary, how much more interesting it would

have been!

My principal regret is that I have not been able
to. give any narrative of the work of Lord Henry Cavendish
Bentinck who made sﬁch an excellent, enthusiastic and
unselfish leader of our society: always ready to face

unpopularity and quite regardless of his own career,
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provided he was helping some unfortunate man or woman
who was suffering: a man of over fifty with very bhad
health, but in spirit a knight-errant. His
disinterestedness often astonished his opponents.
After some of his speeches, Conservatives have said to
me: "Why, he is heading straight for the wildernessti®"
But hé_never cared. On one occasion only did 1 everﬂ
hear him refep to the bitterness that he had aroused
against himself, when he remarked to me: "People aré
beginning to avoid me now*, What'was perhaps hardest
was that, according to soﬁe accounté, even his home

life was rather spoilt by differences of political

feeling. But about that I know nothing.

Oswald Mosley too did splendid work in the -
House. He is a keen and determined young man who will

probably get on in politics.

¥Francis Acland is & man who worked very hard
and unselfishly for us. I think we all liked him.
There are few men.cleverer than he, but I rather fear
that the war has changed our political arena so greatly
that it will be difficult for Acland to take the place

which he deserves.

There are many others whom I should like to
recall, but, having named the three whom I regarded as
more or less our champions in the House of Commons,

that must suffice.
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CHAPTER 1.

LORD: MONTEAGLE'S DOMINION HOME RULE BILL
IS REFUSED BY THE HCUSE OCF LORDS.

It seems to be just worth while recording the events
which led up to the forming of the Peace with Ireiand.Council-
as I had some share in the initiating and more especlielly
in the subsequent. working of that body. And although it
was only & propagendist associatlon and not a political
party, yet many people heve been kind enough to say that it
greatly helped towards the final agreement of peace between
England apd Ireland. It was: the production of just a few
enthusiasts, but they succeeded in gathering round them
some of.the ablest and most disinterested men and women
from every part and more especially some of those rarely-
found priceless Jjewels of humanity, or I should rather call
them those great courageous hearts who are ready to éacrifice
their own interests and to face every form of unpopularity
if thereby they may attempt a good and righteous work
before the Lord.

During the autumn of 1919 I had at length felt
myself sufficiently recovered from the weariness of the
Great War (having been invalided back from Italy in 1918
and marked for permanent Home:Service}lto take up Irish
work ag&iﬁ. I was: very anxious about the condition of
Ireland. 014 friends: were writing to ﬁe that never in
their lives, even during.the land-war, had they seen
matters so serious. Sinn Féin had swept the coﬁntry
at the 1918 elections. & Republican governmént had

been set up which at first seemed to me a futility,
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but which I very soon realised was backed by the
enthusiastic support of almost the whole people. Then
of course came the expected measures of repression.
Sinn Fein was attacked by the British Government and
hundreds of its members were imprisoned for.long
periods, often without trial because evidence was
unobtainable. | And some of them were kiiléd. But
similtaneously one read that the Police and more
especially the Secret.Service agents were being given
short shrift by Sinn Fé€in. And suddenly I realised
that we should Very soon .be facé to face with civil war;

and with c¢ivil war of the most ghastly description.

Nevertheless there was still time to effect a
compromise. But on what lines? There seemed to be
only one possibility left, namely, Dominion Home Rule.
The Dominion Home Rulers were led by Sir Horace
Plunkett, a man whom I trusted more than any other in
Ireland. So I joined his association, the Irish
Dominion League. In the spring of 1920 I was elecfed
to its London Committee presided over by Lord Monteagle.
And I was not long in discovering that there were few

more gemiine patribts-than oid Lord Monteagle.

At the same time I had other irons in the fire.

'I went round to see my old friend Basil Williams, in

whose political acumen I had great confidence.

Basil williams is a short stoutly-built man of
about fifty-three, of such cheéry bluff expréssion that
he has ofteﬁ,been described to me as "a little John
Bull". The son of a barrister, head-boy of
Marlborough College some thirty-five years ago, a first-
class at Oxford (I think), he had begun life as a
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Clerk in the House of Commons, and while there became
one of the leading members of a young Liberal group,
which included men such es George Trevelyan, Francis
Acland, Erskine Childers an& of several other
brilliantly clever contemporaries. Personally I had
first met him at the timeé of the South African war
during which he had most c¢reditably laid aside his
intellectuality in favour of his John Bullishness; and
had served and fought as a volunteer in the Honourable
Artillery Company. At the end of that wearilsome
struggle, reverting to his natural bent, he had soon
become known as one of "Cecil Rhodes' young men', and
had obtained employment writing the official Hi;tory of
the War. An excellent start; |[but since then he had
not gone quite so far as might ve been expected.

He had stood twice for Parliameﬁt in the Liberal
interest, but each time unsuccessfully. His literary

work however had been most successful.

He is an exceptionally good writer - as may be
seen by all who care to read his Life of Chatham, or,
better still, his Life of his former patron, Cecil
Rhodes; and he is also - when he cares to undertake
it - a elever journalist. But from my point of view
in the summer of 1920 what was far more important than
anything else was his political experience. He was a
trained politician from his early days onwards. He
"knew the ropes", and knew the type of people whom I
ﬁanted'to sound: I had great confidence in him
because for about a year-and-a-half before the War I
had worked on a semi-official committee of his which
met in one of the committee-rooms of the House of

Commons in order to criticise the As@uith government's
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Home Rule Bill, and make suggestions on it. Basil
Williams had collected quite an interesting coterie to
serve on that Committee, mostly M.Ps., or would-be M.Ps.;
people such as Gooch .(Editor of the Contemporary

Review), Charles Roden Buxton, Hugh Law, Childeré, Acland
(then a Minister of:the Crown), and other Liberals.

Our mouth-piece in the House of Commons had been Lees-
Smith, a Radical M.P. With these memories updn me I
decided to go round and ﬁry to get my friend to
resuscitate the old organisation, or to start scmething

similar for present purposes.

I found Basil Williams looking fairly prosperocus,
as befitted one who had earned an O0.B.E. during the War
for his work at the War Office. At the age of over 48

he had made no attempt to go abroad.

He quite agreed as to the seriousness of the
situation; and he had already thought about it.
"There is nothing to be done as yet", he said, "but at
ény moment something ﬁay occur which would be w&rth our
acting on and making representations to the Government.
The great thing therefore is to form a Committee of the
right men so as to have it there, ready to act at a

momentis notice."

All through that summer I attended the periodie
meetings of Basll Williams committee. It was the kind
of work that he loved. In fact I have never known him
without a committee. In our present case it was often
composed of entirely different members on two
consecutiveldays. He used to write to people of every
possible type provided they were interested in Ireland;
we had well-known journalists such as Sir Philip Gibbs
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or General Maurice sitting next celebrated churchmen
such as Bishop Gore, or professors such as Professor
Hobhouse or Barker (of King's Colleée); M.Ps. such as
Acland or Ramsay MacDonald. Basil Williams ﬁas a

fairly well-known Liberal orgéniser and he invited

anyone with whom he was in touch. On one occasion when

he told me that he had asked eighteen people, only six
of them turned up, but he seemed perfectly satisfied.
And this system had the advantage of keeping interest ’

alive among a useful type of people all over London.

At the same time I was working on the London

Committee of the Irish Dominion League.

I am not propdsing here to write any aécount of
the Irish Dominion League movement, because that can
only be done by those who were then in Ireland. I
merely speak of my experiences on the London Committee.

It consisted.of the following people:

Lord Monteagle (Chairman).

Lord- ffrench.

Colonel Pope Hennessy, D.S.0.
Dame Una.Pope'Hennessy.

Lady Byles;

Mr. Frewen.

Karl Walter.

Maurice Healey.

Mr. & Mrs. Dominick Spring Rice.

Capt. Henry Harrison, 0.B.E., K.C. (when
in London).

G. F-H. Berkeley.
Lord Henry Cavendish Bentick (who joined

afterwards), and several others I think whose names
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Nnow escape me, Of course Sir Horace Plunkett took the

chair whenever he was over in London.

When I joined the Committee it was already under
welgh, considering a Dominion Home Ru;es Bill which our
Chairman, Lord Monteagle, was to introduce in the House
of Lords. And this was certainly the principal
achievement of the Londop Committee. We were all in
deadly earnest about it, because we felt, and felt most.
solemnly, that this was the 1ast chance of arranging a
compromise; in fact the only remaining alternative to

civil war.

-Our discussions were lengthy and minute. ° Poor
old Lord Monteagle was. almost worked off his feet. But
at length the Bill was ready, and on (- somewhere in
June 1920 I think) he introduced it in the House of
Lords. I went down to hear it; this being the first
occasion on which I had ever attended a debate in that
august assembly. I had not botheréd.Lord HMonteagle
about obtaining admission, as I knew he had many people
to look after, and I had every hopé of finding some
acquaintance there who would do me the favour of getting
me in. As it turned out, it was Lord Ashbourne who put
my name down. I remember now how he came out and
talked over matters and recited a litt;e Gaelic proverb
that he intended to quote in his speech. We had met
on yariéus occasions on Gaelic affairs, and I always
admired his courage and his linguistic attainments while
regretting that hé made them rather ridiculous by
wearing a kilt sometimes in incongruous places and by
bringing in Gaelic quotations in the House of Lords.

It seemed a pity that a really good man who was equally

at home in about five languages and doubtless had a
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working acqﬁaintance with as many more, should get s0
little credit for his attainments. However he was not
in a kilt that day; and he got me a place in the
gallery.

Well, - our ﬁill was throﬁn out in about five
hours. Personally I had not expected it to pass, but I
had thought that it would at least receive an adequate
discussion; and a similar opinion was expressed on the
following morning in the Times. I did not sit out the
whole of the five hdurs (being'fér too hungryland
thirsty), but I waited until the Lord Chancellor (F.E.
Smith, Carson's former galloper) had made it quite plain
that the Government did not mean to listeﬁ to us. It
was a profound pity. & scheme of Dominion Home Rule,
offered at that moment would have been accepted by Sinn
Fein. Lord.Monteagle read a long statement from a
leading Sinn Feiner to that effect; and a year later,
when I asked Mr. Barry Egan, the Sinn Fein Lord Mayor
of Cork and a leading man in the South 6f Ireland, he

said to me: "“Dominion Home Rule will probably not be

~accepted now; but it would have been a year ago". At

-

all events it ought most certainly to haﬁe been

discussed before ingtituting armed répression.

I was a good deal struck by the tone of the
Upper House. It was both digﬁified and genuine,
There was a pleasing absence of party chicanery. But,
on the other hand, the speeches were of a distinctly
amateurish type, even in the case of men who, like Lord -
Crewe, had been in politics for many years. = They
rather suggested to me a more grown-up version of fhe
debates which we used to hold at the Chatham Club Whén

I was an undergraduate at Oxford. Lord Ashbourne
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brought in his Gaelic quotation, and I was rather
astonished to hear him amplifying it by adding several
sentences which amounted practically to an incitement
to Sinn Fein not to give in. It was certainly a
novelty to hear a Peer of the Realm encouraging
resisters by a Gaelic address in the House of Lords.
But this unusual exhortation was evidently lost on
everyone else in the House except myself. After ail,
1t was not half so remarkable an incident as that of
Mr. Carlisle whg éhortly afterwards, taking advantage
of his right as a Privy Councillor, actually entered
the Chamber and solemnly warned the peers from thg
floor of their own House that they would never be able
to suppress the liberty of Ireland. In view of

subsequent events, it was indeed a dramatic incident.

From that day onwards I began to realise that ..
our bolt was shot, and that there was very little ﬁore
possible for our London Committee of the Irish Dominion

League. To obtain any adequate results, one would

have to look elsewhere.
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CHAPTER II.

——

I TRY TO HELP SIR HORACE PLUNKETT.

It was not very long after the rejection of our
Blll that we members of the London Committee of the
I.D.L. were asked by our Chairman to write our opinions

as to the best line of policy for us to pursue.

The situation in Ireland was more or less as
follows: on either side there were the extremists,
Sinn Fein and Orangenen. But in the centre there were
a certain number of moderate men, mostly Southern
Protestants, few in number but many of them influential.
These Moderates might be divided roughly into three
classes: the followérs of Lord Midleton; +the old
Unicnists; and ourselves (followers of Sir Horace
Plunkett). Of these, we were certainly I think the

most mamerous.

Mr. Lloyd George had been in communication with
Sir Horace, and with Captain Henry Harrison, Secretary
of the I.D.L., and had promised us that, if we could
raise a Centre Party of sufficiently large proportions,
he would negotiate matters on our lines. So Sir
Horace and Harrison were busily trying to collect
followers in Ireland and to form a party which would be
strong enough to initiate a deal with Lloyd George, and
to stave off Civil War.

It was at that moment that Lord Monteagle
invited each member of his London Committee to give his

opinion on the situation.
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To me personally this attempt to raise a middle
party in Ireland appeared absolutely futile. I did not
trust Mr. Lloyd George's promises for one instant.

No Irishman really did believe in him after his
pefformances in 1916 and the following years. And I
knew that those who, like Erskine Childers, had been at
the Convention were those who trusted him least of all.
So I put my opinion as pléinly as I could, regardless of
its unpopularity. It was written in diplomatic terms,

but their meaning ran more or less as follows:-

The attempt to raise a central party seems
to me absolutely doomed to failure. And
even if you succeeded in raising one, it would
never be strong, because it would never be
united. It would represent varying degrees
of opinion. Moreover, I believe that Mr.
Lloyd George is merely carrying out a very
ordinary business negotiation, namely, that
he is using us to divide Ireland and weaken
Sinn Fein. Then, once that he has set us up
and reduced the power of Sinn Fein, he will
be in a position to turn on us and beat our
terms down to nothing.

The only people with whom he can ever be
brought to deal seriously are Sinn Fein,
because they alae are a real power in the land,
strong enough to stand up to him, Now I still
believe that Dominion Home Rule or scmething
analogous to it is the inevitable solution of
the problem. . But I think the only way to get
it from a man like Lloyd George is by asking
for something more that Dominion Home Rule.

Cur true course therefore is to urge the.
Government to enter on direct negotiations
with Sinn Fein. '

That was my opinion then (in August or September
1920) and it was the opinion on which I have continued
to work ever since, until about three weeks ago from
to-day, when I saw that the negotiations with Sinn Fein
were actually in progress.(September 1921).

What was very plain to my mind was that the
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time for finding a solution had gone by. If the
Government refused even to discuss our Dominion Home
Rule Bill, it was evident that they did not mean to
accept suggestions. I saw that eventually the
question would be settled, not by the discovery of a
true solution, but by hard bargaining, on either side.

But these views of mine were very far from
being popular among my associates. Shortly afterwards
X
Sir Horace Plunkett and Harrison succeeded in calling

together the Peace Conference in Dublin, and I was

- -invited over to attend it. But my good friend

Harrison would hardly speak to me. He apparently
thought I had deserted him in his task of uniting the
Moderates in Ireland.

The Peace Conference in Dublin was fairly
successful. -There were about 600 people present,
including many of some importance and standing. I

admired the way in which Sir Horace Plunkett,who was

Captain Harrison is a man whose life has always
struck me as rather remarkable. He began his career
while an undergraduate at Balliol, by distinguishing
himself in a landlord-and-tenant row. A tenant's house
was being besieged by the Police, and Harrison, I
believe, relieved it by jumping on to the roof and
throwing down loaves to the people inside. He thought
little enough of this episode himself, but it appeared
in the papers, and on his return to Oxford the under-
graduates took the horse out of his cab and drew him up
in triumph to Balliol.

His name being made, he was soon afterwards elected
as a Natiopalist M.P. and worked under Parnell for some
years; but then retired into private life.

When the Great War broke out, he joined up (either as
a private or as a subaltern) in a line regiment ,although
about fifty years of age; was wounded and won an M.C.;
was: then given an administrative job and earned an 0.B.E.
His son was killed in the war. .

With the advent of peace he became Secretary of Sir
Horace Plunkett's Dominion League. He is not only an
organiser, but an excellent speaker and was especially
selected by Sir John Simon to accompany him to his
biggest meetings all over England.
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in reality the organiser of the whole conference and the
provider of the funds (as he always was in these
matters)”, allowed everyone else to go before him. BHe
spoke, but not at any great length, and was never in the
Chair. I had my first view of the ;.R.A. The doors
of the Peace Conference were kept by some of these

young volunteers, and very clean apd well set-up they
looked. Cur first resolution, I remgmber, was one
calling on the Government to release the Lord Mayor of

Cork whose frightful tragedy had already begun.

The Peace Conference elected a Committee charged
with drawing up a scheme for Lloyd George. I knew
nearly every member of the Committee, but hgd very

little faith in the possibility of their success.

"Before leaving Ireland, Sir Horace Plunkett
invited me down to Kilteragh in order to talk over with
him iy belief in urging the Govgrnment to negotiate
directly with Sinn Fein; and also a plan that I was
always keen about, whether it was not possible to
organise a protest against the inclusion of Fermanagh
and Tyrone and possibly the City of Derry among the Six
Counties. Sir Horace evidently believed in his own
programme of getting his Moderate party'in touch with
Lloyd George through the Peace Conference Committee.

He said very little about it, but both he and Lady.
Fingall (who keeps house for him) étrongly urged me not
to hurry matters. "Give them time, man, give them

time, " were the ;ast words of Lady Fingall.

S0 I decided to wait and see what scheme the

WS R R LMD R R D R L S e D e AR WL M W e S S R P e mr e wm M o o - . —

X I was t0ld that Sir Horace Plunkett was abgut: £, 000

out of pocket over the expenses of the I.D.L.
during its first year alone! )
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Peace Conference Committee might evolve; and to attempt

nothing until Sir Horace had had his turn. It so

. happened that I had never met him before - though I

prided myself on knowing most Irishmen on eithér side -
and I was very much fascinated by his evident love for
Ireland. His great work, for years, had been done
under the stress of ill-health. His lungs were bad.
In fact he took me up on to his: roof and showed me the
little wooden bedroom from which he obtained a wide
view of his beloved country. The bedroom had one side
open and was arranged to revolve, so that he could
always turn its back to the wind. He thus was able to
sleep in the open air. Otherwise he would not have

slept at all,

I may say that duriné this visit I was profoundly
astonished at the atmosphere prevailing in the Kildare
Street Club. It was extraordinarily broadminded.

Quite a number of members were avowedly in sympathy with
Sinn Fein. Three or four whom I met admitted:
themselves to be on their side. I was especially
amused at the attitude of the 0'Conor Don. He is a
magistrate and a D.L. of his county. But he openly
avowed himself a (non-militant) Sinn Feiner, and most
of his conversation was about an action which he had
lately been bringing in a Sinn Fein court about his
iand.- The line which he took showed a really fine and
disinterested spirit on his part, because it meant
faciﬁg social ostracism both in Ireland and in England -

and he had a dauvghter to consider.

More astonishing still was the attitude of my
old school-fellow, Hugh Pack-Beresford. He had slways
been an utterly irreconcileable Unionist, and had
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constantly jibed at my Home Rule tendencies. Now
however he professed himself practically a Sinn
Feiner. I could hardly believe my ears. But of

him, more anon.
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CHAPTER 1l1l.

WE ARE REFUSED A  BALL.

It‘was only a few weeks later that we of the
London I.D.L..Committee decided that, in view of the fact
that the Peace Conference Committee was coming near the
end of its labours, it was time for us to organise a
large public meeting in London. We hed already held
one or two meetings, but had not as yet attempted to take
a large hall. |

I was deputed to engage the Central Hall at

Westminster.
That day comes back to me very vividiy.

I was in the lowest spirits.about everything.
The news from Ireland was maddening: the Lord Mayor of
Cork slowly dying, and every day fresh outrages all over
-the country. These first outrages affected me more than
those later on. Rebellion or no rebellion, I was
infuriated, insmlted at the idea that my country should be
sécked and plundered as though it belonged to an inferior
race, Supposing such deeds were done in Seot;and I
thought, what an outery there would be, A pollce-sergeant
shot in a public-house, - and in consequence the soldiers
burn the whole town of Balbriggan, and bayonet two
innocent people, and there are no questions asked! _ And
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this was only one out of dozens of outrages. True,

the most notorisus murders, those‘which are now familiar
to us, had not yet taken place. But already more then &
hundred villages:ha&.been more or less destroyed and
dozens of inno¢cent men killed or hurt. That this should
be the deliberate policy of the British government

seemed inconceivable. To have punished those who fired
on the soldiers I understocd; but to initiate reprisals
on perfectly innocent people was: simply government by

assassination.

How well I remember that afternoon. It was while
I wag going through the formalities of applying for a
public: hall in which to hold our meeting, that a small
event occurred which started me: on a fresh career of daily
work for a whole year to come: one of these events which

keep one to one's duty about Ireland.

I strolled down to the office of Sir Robert Perks
with whom I was: already.slightly acquainted, - he was our

"neighbour in Oxfordshire, - and found him extremely civil.

A1l was soon arranged about our hiring the Central Hall,
But just as 1 was going to leave he said: "Well,; before

finally closing with you I had better Jjust ialk to Hartley

the agent, as it is he in reality who settles these things“.‘
"He took the telephone and spoke: down it for several

minutes. rTheh he looked up and calmly told me that I
could not have the hall.

This sudden change naturally filled me with

surprise, and I enquired at once as to 1its cause.

Without any apology he explained to me that the
agents had just made a rule that their hall might not be
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let to any Irish sociefy. “If.you are English Liberals;
for 1nstance,-or English Conservatives®" he said, ®"you can
have the hall. But they ®ill not let it to any society
which is Irish®™, Apd in thié decision he remsined
immovable, altﬁough I explained clearly fhat our leaders
were men like Sir Horace Plunkett and Lord Monteagle

whose loyalty (and soivency) could be in no possible doubt,
and that the proposed meeting was one for the purpose of

promoting peace,

At first this seemed to me merely a case of the
ancient rule: "No Irish nee&.apply“. But then 1 |
suddenly realiséd the whole:situatian; namely that the
Government was: going to run its campaign of violence in
Ireland under a vell of secrecy. It had been arranged
that &1l news of the blackguardlsm golng on over there
should be suppressed - &8 is: now of course & matter of
common knowledge. They had already taken steps to
prevent our getting the principal halls., Nothing was to
be heard of what went on until the work was over, Already,
indeed, Sir Hamar Greeﬁwoo& had begun his campaign of
snppreésion of evidence in Ireland, coupled with reckless
denlels of fects in Perliament. And prectically the
whole Press was in Coalition hands., |

Sir Robert Perks evidently percelved & change in

my expression, because he sald rather enxiously:

*fou could get the Kingsway Hall you know, They
don"t mind whom they have. They had & Bolshevist meeting

there last week™.

He said this in the absolute innocence of kindly
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intention. To him, any;hing Irish and aﬁything
Bolshevist were probably not far removed from one another.
When I thought of Lord Monteagle énd our highly
respectable committee I could have laughed aloud, - but
that I was furious at the refusal. So I thanked him

for his suggestion, (perhaps rather sarcestically) and

then told him what I felt.

*I understand that we cannot have the hall, although
we représent the Peace Conference summoned at the desire
of Lloyd George. But there 1s one thing certain, that
if'people 1like ourselves are prevented from holding

meetings, there will never be peace with Ireland".

I went out boiling with rage. When I got into
the-street, I said to myself: 'We may be prevented now,
But I'1l have & meeting here and not only here; but in
everylbig town throughout the country and let every single
person know the blackguardism that is golng on in Ireland.
I'1l rouse the whole of England’'.

It was my first personal experience of an attempt
to suppress freedom of speech and I had never before
realised what en extraordinarily bitter feeling it engenders,
&s T walked out into the streeﬁ I felt profourndly lonely.
For the moment it seeméd as though I were one man alone
golng out to raise the whole of the country. But aloné
or not, I intended to rouse all England.

I suppose 1t was fortunate for me that there were
others who alréady felt strongly on the question, or I
should have found 1t hard to schieve any seriﬁus.result.
But with their help at all evenﬁs;merhave succeeded in

carrying out my programme for all it ﬁas:worth. As
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matters turned out, during the next nine months I was,
through the Peace with Ireland Council; responsible
for providing speakers on the Irish Question to nearly
200 meetings: in every part of England. And of course
we found various other ways of spreading our news as well.
This: I think was the best service that we Irish people
living in England could do to the right cause, that is
to say the'establishing of an honourable peace between
the two countries; - a small enough service at a tlme
when so many hundreds suffered torture and so meny
thousands offered their lives.
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' 1listened to over here, unless they are an item in the
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CHAPTER 1V..

STARTING THE MOVEMENT

My first care was to go round to the Head Quarters

of the Liberal Party. I have invariably found that there

is only one rule in English politiecs, TUse the party

machine: without that you will achieve nothing. This is

trebly true as regards Irish questions which are never

Party programme.

They received me very kindly and agreed to take the
Central Hall for me. I intended to have 1t, and to have
it on the night for which it had been refused to me.

My next care was to pay & visit to Mr, W.M. Crooke,

the Liberal organiser of the Home: Counties. A good

Irishman, educated in Trinity Dublin: one who has never
yet failed me when I asked for his asslstance. He has

eighty Liberal constituencies under his hand andi eye, and

‘ is busy all day; but if one asks him to help in any

Irish question, he will give: you the best of his advice
even 1f he has to sacrifice his hard-earned luncheon hour

to do so.

I saidhto him that I wanted to run an anti-atrocities
campaign all over England, just like the: Bulgarian
atrocities campa:ign of the seventies. He looked rather
thoughtful.
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*If Mr, Gladstone were here it could be done

easlly™, he said.

Miell unfortunately we haven't got Mr. Gladstone

here, so who 1s the best man to get now?® 1 asked.

"Simon®, he said after a little thought, "if you

can get him",

"Well™ I sajid, ™I believe I might be able to get
him, He is;a.neighboﬁr of ours and his wife 1is a keen
Irishwoman. So at all events I might go round to him and

try™,

So off I went to Sir John Simon in Cadogen Gardens.
I found him at home having tea. He received me most
kindly. Sir John as everyone knows, is one of the
best~-locking men at the Bar; as well\as.being probably
the cleverest. He is tall and well-bullt, clean-shaven
of course, with a high forehead balanced by a strong chin.
A man with a suave manner; somewhat of a Puritan type.
In fact he always rather reminds me of the pictures and
statues of George Washington. He is said to be earning
thirty or forty thousand a year at the Bar. And one may

add, he can be extremely agreeable when he llkes,

On this occcasion he did like. I had a most
successful tea. Lady Simon was an excellent ally. She
is: his second wife, not long married, an&‘he seems to be
deeply attached to her, So before the end, to my great
delight he gaid he: would speak at the Central Hall, and,
Iigatbered, prohably at other meetings afterwards.
“Berekeiy, I'm for it®*, he sald, and Lédy Simon beamed on
him, and 1 félt profoﬁpdly grateful to them both.
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I knew that with Simon as a speaker my first
meeting would be a success, He was the best advocate in -
England, But to my great astonishment some of my I.D.L.
committee were not at all pleased. *Simon, my dear fellow',
said Colonel Pope Hennessy, "Simon 1s‘a past-number®, "
And hils wife, DamézUha.Pope ﬁennessy, was: even stroﬁger
on the subject than he. They insisted on my wiring to
Sir Horace: Plunkett before going on with the arrangements.
The reply came that evening. Sir Horace entirely
9g@roveﬂ my cholce, Then, however, they refused to
guarantee expenses, - and I think this had probably been
one of the mein difficulties in their minds. However,
I told them that I would pay a&ll expenses. After that

they let me run the matter as 1 pleased.

-So away I went to Basil Williams. T meant the
meeting to m&ké a splash which would start the whole
movement, ¥ was having an gxxraAgiatform.built so that
‘'we could give away over & hundred platform tickets to
important people apart from the body of the Hall which
would hold an audience of over eleven hundred. The
quesmions arose, which were the best named to include in
our invitation list! It was here that Williams came in,
He had a wide: knowledge: of the prominent people in Liberal
circles. And in the course of the next few days he got
an excellent list to add to my much smaller one. He had
of' course been able to keep in touch with London political
life during the War; whereas for me, nearly all my

landmarks: were gone after six years absence.

As regards speakers he was not successful, We

tried, together, nearly all the speakers whom he suggested
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as suitable, but without success. During those eérly
days: 1t was very hard to get people to speak for us, -
though later on, when our movement was in full swing,
many of them were gquite hurt if they were not invited.
However I secured Sir Horace Plunkett; and afterwards
Lord ffrench. Then Williams got Mr. G.K. Chesterton.
About this time too, Erksine Childers appeared in London,
and, I believe, was able to supply useful facts and

figures as to various important points.

I also got in touch with the Labour Party and found
them very sympathetie,

‘When the evening came, I was rather nervous.
But tpe meeting was: an unqualilfied success. The Liberal
organisers, Mr. Ri#ers:and his staff worked splendidly.
The hall was packed, - there were about 1,300 people
there, And Sir John sWwayed the whole audience. I sat
there: and listened to him with delight. At times it
seemed &g if every individual in that assemblage was
afraid of moving hand or foot for fear of losing a single
word. He had probably never been better. So great was
his success that as we were breaking up, Colonel Pope
Hennessy himself came up to me entirely‘unsol;cited and
said: "This has been a splendid meeting: 8&nd 1t 1is a
* great thing for Ireland that it has been held™, .

Euring the actual evening T kept a good deal in
the background, as I was very unwilling that Mounty should
by any chance hear tﬁﬁt I was taking a prominent part in
it. It was only about six weeks that Castle Mary had
been burned to the ground, the old home where I had been
brought up as his nephew, and I did not want him to think
that I had forgotten that fact.
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I sh&l; always remember that speech, and I think
it made an equal impression on others.

Sir John's methods &re always forénsie. - but
forensic in the highest sense, With him, 1t is always
an appeal to reason rather than to passion. The best
combination imaginable for a public meeting 1s to get
Sir'John as first speaker. He convinces the audlence.
And then when hé has: left them abundantly convinced, to
let some eloguent énd enthuslastic orator arise and
carry them off their feet, Later on I succeeded in
achieving this combination for our meeting in Birmingham
when I got T.P. O'Connor as seconder. I was afterwards
told that those tﬁo were consldered to have produced one
of the greatest successes that Birminghanm had seen for

several years,

On this particular evening of our I.D.L. meeting
at the Central Hall, Sir John mainly devoted himself to
proving to the auaience that the outrages in Ireland were
not, as the Lloyd George Cabinet asserted, merely so many
sporadic outbursts-of retaliation on the part of the
troops and police, but a carefully organised campaign of
burning, pillage and killing deliberately planned and
' carried out by the Government itself; Beginning with the
sack of Balbriggan and the slaughter of two of 1ts
inhabitants, he retailed instance upon instance to prove
how rifles, cartridges, bombs and trains of motor lorries,
in fact every implement of war had been used, - and
systematically used, - during these expeditions;
emphasising each significant eplsode until at length he

would bring down on us the final crashing sentence, forcing
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his conclusion home to the hilt like a giant hammer
driving a wedge through the heart of a shattered log.
Thiss he 41d again and again; and on one occasion there
was: an even more effective élimax of his, which I shall
always remember, It was after he had piled Instance on
instance to prove his point until we all knew what was:
coming; until every single person ﬁhere wag waiting for
the final smashing blow, and then, all at once, instead
of the resounding phrases that we were expecting, he
suddenly broke into a tone of the bitterest sarcasm,
retailing with a kind of ferocious lrony the halting and
feeble replies;that the Government had made in the House
to the point in question.

Th&t evening I went home with the Simons to suppér.
We were greatly elated., But next morning, - disappointment
and surprise! H&rdly & single paper reported even the
fact that there had been & meeting at all. None of them
had & good account of it. Yet we had notified them all.
This: was indeed a strange way to treat the late Home

Secretary and Sir Horace Plunkett,

-

Nevertheless it was very largely from this
assémblage that the Peace with Ireland movement arose.
It brought home to a very considerable number of important
- people in the political world the truth as regards the
Government's policy in Ireland: the possibiliﬁy of a
movement of proﬁest: and the duty that iay on them in the
matter. There had been some Irish meetlings on the subject
but this was the first large English gathering. Andlwe
had there péople of the type of Lord Henry Cgvendish
Bentinck, Lord and Lady MécDonnell, Bishop Gore, Lord and
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Lady Parmoor, General Gough, Lord and Lady ffrench,
Miss Buckmaster and many others who afterwards became
leading members of the Peace with Ireland Council.
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CHAPTER V.

THE POLICY OF REPRESSION AS I SAW IT.

Golonel Pofe Hennessy D.S.0. held an important
post at the War Office,-but this did not .prevent his;being
an excellent Irishman,-just like his father whom I had
known in the old déysiwhen he.lived at Rostellan and I at
Castle Mary the next place'to it. I remembered old Sir
John the ex-Governor of Mauritius who was hated in the
Army because-"he had tried to put the black man over the
white® and waéarather a pariah among the country gentry
becauée he alone for miles round proclaimed himself a Home
Ruler. Now:; I believe, many of the streets in Mauritius
are called after him, and his 1s: & name to conjure © "
with. there. And nowadays most of the Irish landlords
would be glad to get the Gladstonian Home Rule which he

- advocated, I like his son, Colonel POpe Hennessy

and ean hardly imagine how he has got through this year,
a. Catholic Nationzlist at the head of a War Office
Department., I know he has had a miserable time;
regarded as one who sympathised with the enemy in a
particularly brutel type of war.

His wife;.Dame Una Pope Hennessy earned her D.B.E.
during %he war. She is very pleasant and very clever,
but being an Englishwoman has always seemed to me rather
anxious to finish the Irish question at eany price, as was
perhapsanatur&l in view of her husband's: career, She was
on the London Committee of the I.DaE.,‘but I have hever
been able to feel that she sympathised with us au fond.
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She has always struck me as more anxious to'get
information than to assist in our projects; and this,
coupled with the fact that apparently she has many

friends smong the military hierarchy and is remembered

to have written one or tWwo books on secret service has
cause& her to be a good deal distrusted. Bven one of her

best friends described her as ma.drawing-robm conspirator®,

It was: from her that I first learned the military
programme in the autumn of 1920, I had said to her that
I intended to have meetings in every big town in England,

*But™, she said, "do you realise that Sinn Fé&in
will be broken by next Christmaﬁl" | -

%I very much doubt it"™, I replied.

"The British Secret Service 1s very good you know",
she saié,.“uncommonly'good since the War", (I think shé
added: WI£ has never been so good beforé. It can do
ggxthing;. But perhaps that expression came from someone

else,)

"Sinn Féin will be broken by Christmas, and theniit
will be;for the moderate men to rule Ireland™, and she .
looked at me rather meaningly. *We shall sée:whethef
&rthur Griffith 1s; man enough to é&ll.the moderate men

round him to rule the country. Do you think he'll move!®,

"He'1l not budge"™, I said with conviection, and this

answer f&ther closed the subject.

Her information coupled with more of the same tenor,
- and with the news in the papers soon made the situation-
fairly plain to me. * It was evidently belleved that Sinn
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Féin was merel& & murder-gang. That thé Army, or more
probably the Irregulars could pelgiven a free hand and
would finish off the murder-gang in another three months,
How they did thé work was to be their own affair.

No questions would be asked. No one in Parliéﬁent was to
-adm;t that he knew what was going on. . The Sinn Féin
organisation was to be stamped out; and their resistance
was: to be crushed by reprisals, For every soldier or
policeman killed, several civilians whether innocent or
gullty would pay the price. No -one was to be allowed

to know who was responsible for any particular act of
torturing or sﬁooting. When it was over, the British
public might possibly learn something about it, but, in
view of the result achieved, they would not bother about the
means; employed. The Cabinet hed actually set out to
térrorize a whole white people about three and a half
million in number. |

The system developéd by those 1in authority'was to
disarm the whole people. It was presently ordained that
the.possession of any fire-arm was pun;shable by death,
Later on, a man was executed for possessing a pistol.
The curfew was instituted so that everyone had to be
in their homes by 10 p.m. {or sometimes even by 8 p.m.)
Therefore it became impossible for them to congregate
together for matual protectlion or even for assisxance.
Crown agents: in mufti went into the houses and shot men
in front of their wives, Or, worse still, ordered the
women into one room, and shot men in andther room wWhere
on more than one occasion a husband bled to death while
his yife heard him groaning on the other side of the
partition.
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Throughout most of Ireland lnquests were suppressed
sb that a man could be disposed of without inquiry.
On any dark night you might suddenly find yourself
invaded and ‘murdered by Government agents without a chance

of defence or even of redress for your family.

How it could possibly be supgosed that Arthur
Griffith would crown the triumph of this: system I have
never been able to conceive, But possibly it was thought
that he wss merely a moderate, theoretical Sinn Féiner
quite apart from the I.R.A. He was of course originally
a pacific agitator, and had taken no parﬁ in the rising
of 1916. |

To me the most terrible feature of the whole thing

was that at first the majority of the English people

undoubtedly approved of the programme. Most of them
deliberately turned a deaf ear to what was golng on.

They did not mesn to kmow. If one told them the truth,
they simply said that one was *condoning the Sinn Féin
marders*, One lady, a marrie& woman with children

said to me when I tried to convey to her the real state

of affairs: *Oh the Irish are fractious*. A friend of
mine at ‘my cluﬁ frankly defended reprisais. He said:

®*If they kill some: of the Irish, it will prevent the
others: from murdering our soldiers. It will_make the
people in general turn against Sinn Féin, To him I sald:
"My dear fellow, the: Irishman is iﬁé very last man with
whom you can do that. He's always ready to cut off hils
own nose to spite his‘face; and 1f you cut off his nose,
you'll find he'll spite your face", During the last year

I've had no reason to alter my opinion. Of another member
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qf my club, I am sorry to say a north of Ireland man,

I asked whether he really believed the Irish would be
subdued, *My dear Sir®™, he replled: ™go on with
reprisals;aéd you'll geé them to fee&,oﬁt of your hand®.
But this man, I may add, had spent his life in India and
had a.son-ih-lin in the R.I1.C., so thaﬁ his view were a
good deal embittered. T had many other experiences of
this kind. |

The net result of my conversation with Dame Una
was: that I redoubled my efforts to reise meetings for Sir
John Simon. At first it was very uphill work. My
difficulty lay in the fact that we were ogtentatiously
boycotted by the whole London press. &lmost without exgeption,
and that I did not get much sympathy at firat at Eibgral
Head Quarters where Sir John was apparently not very
popular just then. Still T persuaded them to subscribe
£10 to two of the principal meetings and added £5 myself
in each case. This paid for most of the incidental
expenses. We: had an exnellgnt meeting in Manchester;
and presently a. still better one in Birminéham where i got
T.P. 0'Connor as: second speaker. They were kind enough
to éay‘that this Birmingham meeting "yas considered the
best they had had for years®, . Newcastle and one or two
other northern towns wrote fo me that they had already
had Irish meetings:y; Eiverpool was keen; but the police
intervened, fearing a faction fight. Still the ball had
been started. Sir John h&d'mﬁde an immense success
wherever he spoke. The Lliberals were pleased, And
before six months: were past he had spoken at nearly all
the princip&l'tomns in England.
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The degree that had been reached by this poliey
of ™turning & blind eye“'sﬁmply left one gasping. There
saeﬁed to be no decency left at all; at my London club
one morning I heard that & young Irish fﬁlunteer had
‘been &qndemned to death, so érter my morning paper I went
over to talk to & friend, a middlé-aged lawyer with an
important Goveranment position in Lohdon. to try to get
.& reprieve, But as soon as he heard what I said, he
replied with dignity: ©*I should be greatly obliged if

you would no longer address any remarks to me at all®,

-

That case was the case of Kevin Barry.
ADDENDUM (1954.)

Kevin Barry. At the time when I tried to save his life,
I did not know that he had been “tortured® (in the militery
sense).or I should have made that a cause of unparelleled’
. attack on Hamer: Greenwood &and Lloyd George. I did not |
know: that during this first Grea£ War that had become a
regular system for obtaining information. It was Sir
John Simon who first explained it to me; he had had &
war-job in Amiens, so that he was up-to-date about such -
metters as this. He explained it to me more or less as
follows: - with his brother-in-law Menning listening and
approving every word. Sir John said: ®Supposing my wife
were upstalrs dying in pain, and,supposiﬁg one of the wbmen
there knew some .way oﬂ’sﬁving her but aiways.refused to
tell us; - why I should notzhesitate to twist her arm or

apply other pain until she told us".

Later on (1921) Desmond Fitzgerald told me that he
thought more then half those arrested had been through

some form of torture.
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CHAPTER V1.

—————

THE FOUNDING OF THE PEACE WITH IRELAND COUNCIL.

There were several strong polnts In our favour,

uphill though the work might appear at the start.

In the first place I was: absolutely certain that
I was: in the right. Nevef in my life have 1 been so
completely convinced of the Jjustice, the necessity and the
absolute righteousness of any work in which I have taken
part. To make peace between England and Ireland; to
prevent the dragooning of & whole people, - of my own
people: fo.prevent an iniguitous party scheme which
was: blackening the name of England before the whole
civilised world. From every point of view no duty could
be plginer. If this plot for dellberately cowing a whole
. White people were successful, it would be tried elsewhere.
It would mean reversing the only high principle for which
the War had been fought, namely that Right ought to
péevail over Might, especially as regards the smaller
nations, and would thus be a step backwerds in the history
of the world. And, having live&.twenty-five years 1n
England, I belileved that there were enough just men and
women there to prevent the majority from peréisming in

this policy of secret and legalised ruffianism,

Secondly I was not a.politié;aﬂ, andi, owing to Car's
health was: qulte impossible that I should ever enter

politics. Therefore I was in & very strong position of
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being able to serve other people without expecting any
return. Certainly the way to make converts is to

organise success as; far as pogssible and then let someone:
¢lse, - the most important man that one can find, - enjoy
the c¢redit obtained. By this means he becomes & permanent
ally. But always: of course one must use the party

machine, Without that, one commands no votes, and
consequently no influence, One becomes & mere propagandist
socliety which usually ‘speaks only to its own followers.

I believe that our little Peace with Ireland Council
achieved far more success than 1t was entitled\to expect,
mainly because of the assistance which it received (and gave
to) bbth the Liberal and Labour party machines.

Acting on the above principle, I had endeavoured
to push Basil Williams into the movement &s much as
possible, I had consulted him on every point; and as he
was: a Liberal organiser I had endeavoured to bring him
into touch with Sir John Simon for hié own advantage;
and had even arranged that he, Williams, should speak at

| our meeting. 411 this had certainly the desired effect

of making him keen to push the matter further, but also
oddly enough it filled him with a competitive feeling as
regards myself. He was avowedly rather nettled and a
little resentful tow&fdszme because he had not recelved
nore credit for his share in our meeting, - although I had
done my best to allow it to him, as he was a man with
political aspirations and I was not. Consegquently

it was not long béfofe I became aware that he had some

scheme entirely his own, going forward. A week or two

‘later he asked me to come to & cohference he was holding

in the House of Commons for the purpose of founding a
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society or association to :agitate for peace with Ireland.
I went. Apd this was the first of three conferences
which led eventually to the formation of the Peace with.

Irelend Council.

Basil Williams had succeeded in uniting the
representatives, more or less important, from a large
number of elements not only in the political world, but
also in the religious: life of London. I cannot now
remember exactly which people were at this first conference,
because it was followed a few days later by a second
conference and then by-& third. But at one or other of
these three assemblages: we welcomed a very fairly |
gsatisfactory assortment of people of & great many different
types. . The old Liberal Party was well to the foré; -

Ledy Simon was there representing Sir John who was busy
all day in court. Also Miss Margaret Buckmaster, partly
on her own sccount, partly as representing her father
Lord Buckmester former Solicitor-General, Hr. Francis
Acland M.P. lately in Asguith's: government: Lady Byles,
Ch&irm&h of the Women's Liberal Federation; Messrs.
Ramsay MacDopnald, De Lisle Burns and Woife, prominent
Labour men; Lord Henry Cavendish Bentinck M.P. snd Oswald
Mosley M.P., both Conservatives who had lately crossed

- the floor of tﬁe House and joined the Opposition. .
certain number of well-known people such as Bishop Gore,
Lord MacDonnell, Bernard Shaw, and, I think, Dr. Horton
the lesding man among the Nonconformists; And plenty

of journaliéﬁsssuch as H W, Nevinson, J.L. Hammond, Desmond
McCarthy and Robert Lynd. It is impossible to remember
them a8ll now. There were several hundreds from first to

last,
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But I believe that the element which had given
Basil Williams the most assistance at the start was the
Qyaker Peace Council mzinly composed of Quakers, and
principally represented, es far as I know, by Lord and
lady Parmeor, her sister Miss BEllis and Mr. Pollard. The
Peece Council (I think this was the right name) had been
formed during the War and had endured & good deel of
hatred and ridicule, being commonly known as "the Peace
Cranks'™, But they were very much in eernest—and proved
themselves: most genulnely unselfish. They certainly did
a8 great deal if not most of the spade-¥ork with regard
to helping Williams to form our Peace with Ireland Counclil.
And yet when the movement began to come to a head,
they voluﬁtarily obliterated themselves and retired from
the scene in order to avoid involving the new enterprise
in any of their own unpopularity. Indeed throughout all
our movement nothing has struck me more forcibly than

the earnestness and unselfishness of the Quakers:.

Ireland was: hardly represented at all. Indeed
at the first two conferences I think I was the only
Irishman present. Williams had rightly aimed at making
it a purely English movement. It was; to be an English
protest &g&inst the policy of the government, and not to
be confounded in any way with any kind of Irish resistance,
That, I think was why Willlams ﬁad rather kept aloof from
me until he was; actually calling his first conference.
I was on the Irish Dominion League Commlittee, and he did

“not wish to be in any way confounded with them. He was

right. It was: far better not to be bound to Dominion
Home .Rule or any other formal scheme, but to gather into

our fold everyone who was: ready to help in stopping the
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repression in Ireland. At our last conference Mr,
Devlin and Mr. Bernard Shew both spoke, but they neither
of them ever became members of the Peace with Ireland

Council. Nor 414 Mr. T.P. O'Connor.

Well, - the Conferences went off very satisfactorily.

A committee was: appointed to organise the new association,

which soon after came into belng as the Peace with Ireland
Council. I was not on the committee that formed 1it,
but as soon as our P,WN.1.C. came into being, Williams

invited me to sefve on its committee.

I was immensely pleased at the development of the

scheme and profoundly grateful to Williams,  He certainly

had done the work well, and, oonsidering the disorganised
conditions: of the moment, hed achieved wonderfully good
results. No one else whom I knew could have done as:
mach. His strong poiht'was;that he had an excellent
knowledge of the political world in Loﬁdon. He had a
very large number of names in his; head and could usually
label them good, bad or indifferent for any scheme

that he had in hend. In fact throughout al; that year
that I'wbrked in our office, it always seemed to me |
that no one "knew the ropes® quite so well as Basil

Williams,
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CHAPTER-V1l.

BEGINNINGS: OUR MOVEMENT'S PROGRESS UP TO THE END OF 1920.

We took an office and started operations.

My chief regret now'is that I &id not keep a dlary
during my year of work in the office of the PkwwI.é..
It would have been profoundly interesting, whereas my
recollections &8s I can now jot them down will probably
be extremely boring to everyone except myself and possibly
the few who worked with me if they ever hear of them.
But it was: too dangerous, not for myself but for others
and for the movement in genéral. We were in constant
touch with peopie of every kind and description, from
extreme Unionists to extreme Sinn Féiners. We lived in
frequent expectation of being raided by the police.
One felt that it was not falr to those who came and
conf'ided their troubles to us that any writtén record
should exlst of what they had said, even in our homes. .
Several times I seriously wondered whether Hanwell Castle
would be ralded. And there were ?arious;perioda;when
our letters seemed to bgar traces of having been opened.
In fact we often asked each othér whether.we were really
living in England where thought and speech are usually

supposed to he free.

Neverpheless without a diary it 1s guite impossible
to reproduce the human interest of our work day after day; .

when fresh people turned up almost every morning, - not
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Sinn Pélners: as a rule, but men and women who were horrified
at what was taking place in Ireland; landlords, officers,
Americans, English and occasionally an Irish republicen,
appearing one after another in our tiny office, The
first case that impressed me: deeply was one brought in by
an ex-colonel in the British Army, who came Yo tell us
how he hed himself seen a man whom he mew well go off on
& car with several policemen and nothing more had been
heard of him until his murdered body was: found. It was
profoundly interesting to hear him going through his story,
but of course I cannot now remember the detaills, nor what
we said to him. = There have been so many cases equally
bad or worse! aince then. But the maddening part was
that we could dc nothing at first to prevent these
killings: or help the sufferers. For one reason,they
usually stipulated that we should not mention their name
for fear of their homes being burnt and vengeance being
wreaked on their old parents in Ireland. At first I had
not intended to go into the office permanently, but Basil -
Williams urged me to do so, - they were short of workers
at the start. I fefused, but said I could do so for &
short time, and after being a few days there, saw that I -
could really be of usé and so stayed on. Williams
assigned me a.particulér branch of the work, that of
providing speakers for meetings on Ireland, as he said

it was the job I had already begun on my owWwn account.

And this was;ei&ctly the branch that I wanted because 1
was determined to see that meetings: were held all over
England so that everyone should have a chance of knowing
the truth. So this became my staple work for the next
nine months, though at the same time I undertook any

other jobs for which I had tilme. ind during those nine
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months (of which only seven were actual working period
as; the Labour Party's campaign took over propaganda
during six weeks:), I sent as I have saild, speakers and

Propag&ndist literature (by the thousand) to nearly 200

meetings. The truth has been cried aloud in virtually

every town in England. This result would have been quite
impossible without the magnificent enthusiasm of our

small band of speakers who, most of them, were ready to

. travel six or eight houfs: to address an audience of no

more than perhaps 150 people. We pald their bare

expenses but nothing more.

At first it seemd almost futile to try to convince
the dull, leaden mass of public ppinion. Cur sgcond
meeting I remember was bréken up by organised ex-service
men (to my great grief) who said we were attécking the
army, This was the prevalent idea; that Sinn Fé€in was
merely a small gang of extremist murderers who had made
an unprovoked attack on the Army. It was: necessary to
put the other side of the question before the people.

The newspapers: were practlcally closed to us. So I asked

Robert Lynd the well-known writer to prepare & leaflet

entitled Who began iiz and after a fortnight he produced
an excgllent one whiéh travelled far and.wide by the
thousand. It was taken up by the Eabour.Partj and there
must have been about six hundred thousand copies circglated
from first to last. I myself in great haste wrote &

small x/pamph;et giving the history of the Irish Question
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. % This pamphlet'shows various verbal slips owing to the

great hurry in which it was produced, - mainly between

a. Saturdey and Monday, - in order to be in time for a series
of meetings for which Hammond's pamphlet was late. He

took some time over his, "A tragedy of errors®, but when

it 414 appear later on, it was: excellent.
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sihce 191, and to my great delight, though neéessarily
somewhat lengthy, it proved successful. About six to
seven thousand copies: were disposed of sooner or later
which I think was above the total reached by any other
pamphlet or leaflet except Lynd's. The pamphlets of
course (sﬁch ag; mine) were more-expensive and could not be
distributed in the same wholesale manner as the leaflets
of which we often gave away fifty or a hundréd gratis to
put in the seamts at & meeting. And at this time I
remember there appeared & Sinn Féin map of Ireland
covered with about 200 red dots: each representing a town
or village sacked or damaged by troops: or police, énd '
giving names and dates. This struck me as an excellent
method of making peopie realise the blackguardism of the
Government's policy. Having verified the dates, 1
persuaded ﬁhe Liberal Party Headguarters to reprint it

on terms of my paying half the expense. Their printers
refused to carry out the order on the grounds that it
would be hampering the Government™, but another firi was
found to do the work and soon aftérwards we had 4 copy

on the: walls of every Liberal Club in England. This small
feat seems: to have given quite a "jolt"™ to the Government.
Our map was; attacked in Parliameni, onée by the Prime
Minister and on another day by Hamar Greenwood in

terms of fury, on the grounds; that it amounted to
publishing the propaganda of the enemy. Yet it was merely
a list of places and & chart! I think the Liberals were a
little alarmed at this onslaﬁght, but our result had
already been obtained. This was: the only occasion on
which I ever published anything produced by Sinn Féin,
because ours was in reality an English movement and we

meant it to rem=in so. The map, however, was & mere
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summary of facts and dates which had already appeared in
the Irish newspapers. The original Sdnn‘Eéin version

was; afterwards disseminated 1n a slightly different form
in France, but I do not know who was responsible for that

One small event of this early period I shall always

remember because it filled one's heart with encouragement.

1 went out one evening to the Kingsway Hall to a meeting

on Ireland under the auspices of the Women's International

League, It was excellently done. The speakers were good,
and they had magic-lantern slides representing the .
sacked town of Balbriggan and other gcenes of the sort

which brought the true conditions home to the audience.

At the end they made a collection. There were about 600

people present, but they seemed far from being rich.

Nevertheless to my great surprise they subscribed no less

| than £67 to the campaign. @f course many of them were:

Irish! But for all that, here I thought, is hope and
sympathy: end: I may add that the Women's International
League certainly deserved it., They had sent &
deputation of their members over to Ireland to study
conditions: on the spot, and these ladies had afterwards
issued a report in which they spoke out beoldly and
published the facts in plain English for everyone to see.
The gist of their verdict was expressed in the first
two paragraphs of the final summary:

n(i) Ireland &t the General Election 1918 by

constitutionsl election chose her own government..

A majority of over 70% was cast for Sinh Féin,

and by the overwhelming con%ent of the people,

the Irish Parliament (D&il Eireann) meeting in
Ireland, rules over the Irish people.
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(i1) As: a necessary conséquence, the British
Government attempting to rule against the will
of 70% of the people, can do so only by force
complicated by fraud. Sples: and informers are
an essential part of the government where the
mass of the people are hostile, There is no
co-operation between governors and governed and
the army of occupation (whether military proper
or armed police) is demoralised by perpetual and
agonising fear, and the constant use of debasing
methods of esplionage and lawless intimidation
and revenge',

I do not know what political creed these ladies
‘professed. I believe that some of them were considered
to hold extreme views, But as regards: Ireland, at all
events! I know that they were the first body of
English people who had the courage to put thelr names

to the truth.

Another event of the same sort but far more .
important was: the: Labour Party Commission to Ireland;
the same Commission which afterwards issued such &
detailed and instructive report on the Government's
poliey of killing and burning. I knew 1tsxsecrefary
and also its military member General Thompson, and was
able to provide introductions for them all to various
friends: of mine. Moreover 1 took Harrison round to
their office, and he gave then én excelleht list of people
to consuls, far longer than mine. Later on, when their
report appeared, it was bitterly decrled and derided as beirg
merely & party move. Even Punch, which under Owen -
- Seaman's guldance has become militantly anti-Irish, had
& cartoon directed against it. But now a2t this: present
day, a year later, I will challenge anyone to read that
report and say that-it was not an hones£ and courageous
attempt to meke the truth known. At that time no one
would believe, - absurd as it may seem now, no one would

actually believe that the British Government was
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responsible for the policy of repression in Ireland.
But the Lébour Commission summed up the truth as folldW&:A
spinrder in cold blood, the callous and brutal
treatment of innocent children, incendiarism and
theft are crimes and offences against the moral
law. even when they are committed: under the auspices
of the British Empire and in the name of law and
order, Sir Hamar Greenwood hags applied the term
*murder-gang® to the “gunmen" of Ireland. The
epithet can be applied to those individuals who, in
the pay of the British Government kill people in cold
blood. The Chief Secretary has: identified himself .
with a policy which 1s a disgrace to the: Britlsh
people and which we believe to be unparalleled .in
this country™. ' '
Plain speaking! But unfortunately it occurred in a party
report and conseguently was little read by outsiders.
Still it came as & revelation, I think, to a good many
Labourites and Liberals;, and as: a confirmation of thelr
suspicions to many nore, But as regards the majority
of the English people, our difficulty was that they d4id
not went to know the truth, - even the bulk of the
Church of England at first, - and continued to ignore
the matter until it grew into & world scandal and became

& danger to the Empire,

During ﬁhis early periocd the events are rather
scrappy. We had an excellent Secretary. Mr, De Lisle
Enrns, but a very bad, tiny office, and as yet it had been
impossible to get matters gquite smooth, Hevertheless
we seemed to be making progress, The fact was that our
start'had not been quite a&s: successful as we-ha& hoped.

We had not been joined by quite so many important people
as might have been expected. But now they were'graduallz
coming 1n;

The two most important events of De Lisle Burns'

secretaryship were the first visit of our delegates to
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Ireland, and secondly our Albert Hall meeting.

As regards the delegation, it was rather a fiasco,
We invited all the prominent people whom we knew; but norne
of them would accept, They were all unwilling to incur
the odium. At length, however, we found two smalwarps
who were not afrald of unpopularity. The first of these
was: Lady Sykes, widow of Sir Mark Sykes whose early
death had been so greatly deplored. He had been a
really promising politician, one who was respected by‘all
perties. Very rich, a Conservative and a sportsman who
had  travelled all over the world: but at the same time
a Catholic and & man with broadminded views on Ireland,

and, I believe, on other subjects as well.

His widow undertook to fill his place, and te do
the work which he doubtless would have done. I well
remeﬁber her first appearance one evening in our tiny
office. She was tall, well-bullt good-looking woman
in black, with a great deal of hair through‘which there

_ran a copper tinge; quick-tempered I daresay, because

her eye flashed réther prightly now and then; noticeably
well-dressed, - in fact she seemed to brighten up our
dingy little room. She was daughter of Sir John Gorst

and & convert to Catholicism, I afterwards heard that

her mother had been Irish. But whether this was so or not,

she was evidently ready to work in the interests of peace;
and appeared capable, She gave me the impression of
knowling whom‘to approach in both religions and on both
sides of the wsater, And thls was afterwards proved to

be the case.

Our second delegate was Sir Henry Lawson, &
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Lieutenant-General who had only lately retired from .the
Army. He wag still an uncommonlj good-looking_m&n

in spite of forty years service in every known guarter of
the world. As & lieutenant he had taken part in the
dash across the desert to relieve General Gordon; and
now lately, at the age of about sixty, he had commanded the
British communications in Italy during the Great War.

I suppose there is hardly another man alive who has taken
part 1n'both these campaigns. He was married to an
Englishwoman, - Lord Radnor's daughter, - but he himself
was the son of an Irish judge and had never entirely

lost touch with Ireland. He: was a man to whom one felt

.greatly drewn at the: very first glance, owing to his

charm both of face and manner. And now, looking back
over the past year, 1t seems to me that I‘havé been
working with no one whom I liked as well as Sir Henry

Lewson, except perhaps Bishop Gore;

He and Lady Sykes ought in reality to have
formed part of a Commission. But we could not get any
other people for certain, (Sir Frederick Pollock had
given us a rather qualified acceptance) so it was decided
to ask both Lady Sykes and Sir Henry Lewson to go over
to Ireland as representing our council 1ndividﬁally and
to report to us on the state of affaf}s there. They wers

not to work in conjunction with each other,

Ilhave always thought that these two representatives
of ours did more to further our work than perhaps any

" other:. of those outside Parliament. Lady Sykes was a&ble

to obtein invaluasble information and tQ spread it among
influential people who wanted to know the truth. And

Sir Henry Lawson wrote three excellent reports, two of
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which were printed by our Council, and one which I got

done by the Liberals. Coming from a soldier with his
splendid record of service they naturally carried weight.
And, as hardly a single newspaper would publish anything
we sent them, it was only by means: such.as the above-named
that we could hope to undermine Hamar Greenwood's: dead-wall
of deniéls and .lies, The cynicism of Greenwaod's lying
during this period was absolutely beyond belief. He
denied practically anything of which he-could prevent the
proof elther by force or by fraud.

Our last important event before the end of the year
was the Albert Hall meeting. I had never supposed that
ue.were strong enough as yet to fill the Albert Hall,
but everyone else seemed to thinklit possiblé, and we
decided to hire that huge place and invite the best
speakers: available, We were fortunate in being able to
get the help of Mr. Rivers of the: London Liberal Federation
to organise it for ﬁs, and he is probably the best
political organiser in England. It was anxious work;
but our speakers were well-known and their names drew
large numbers: to hear them. We had about 8,000 people
there, - I spent half-an-hour counting them. There
were a few seats vacant, but that is inevitable at the
Albert hall where it is a condition of hiring that where
a. ticket-holder fails to turn up, no one else can take
his place. And it was; a favourable audience, with the
exceptlon of about fifteen or perhaps twenty interrupters;,

- who I strongly suspect, had been sent there by the

Government.
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Our speakers were thé following; and their
names: rather show that our Council was weli~regarded by

all parties in the Opposition:

Lord Henry Cavendish Bentinck (in the Chair)

Mr, Asguith (representing the Liberal Party)

Lord Buckmaster " " b "

The Bishop of Peterborough (representing the Church)

Dr. Horton, representing the Nonconformists

Miss Margaret Bondfield representing the Labour-
Party and the women

Sir Thomas: Grattan Bsmonde representing Ireland.

And Sir Horace: Plunkett also spokef

Lord Henry Cavendish Bentinck is not & great
speaker, but on this occasion he did well and made an
excellent chairman and figure-head with his good-looking
cheery face. Mr., Asquith who spoke second, seemed to
me to have aged. He was: slow, and for him not very
successful. This was partly due to his belng the mark
against which the interrupters had evidéntly decided to
concentrate. They did their best to spoil his speech and
were successful, but only for a short time, Of the
others, I thought Dr. Horton spoke well. His reference
to the policy of reprisals seemed to me powerfully

expressed. The following is an extract from it:

A government may punish but must not imitate
crime, Directly it yields: to the temptation of
retaliating, because to do justice is too hard, it
brings disaster on 1tself, and on the country,
unless the country hastens to repudlate the
government. ' :

By such treasons against their subjects,
empires destroy themselves. The true strength
of Empires and rulers lies not in the physical
force at their disposal, but in the trust of all
that they are inflexibly open, truthful and legal.
So soon as & government departs: from that standard,
it feases to be anything more than the gang in
possesgion, and its days are over".

Dr. Horton certainly spoke well. But Miss Margaret

Bondfield was by far the most successful of our team.
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Througﬁout every sentence of her speech she carried

the whole audience: with her, There is undoubtedly
gomething magnetic about her, - I think it is perhaps
frenkness combined with enthusiasm.which goes to the
heart of the listeners. 0f course her appeal comes homé
most powerfully of all to those of her own party,

but it moves?others as well. I have known a strong
Conservetive who hated her political creed and yet
admitted that he would rather listen to her than to

almost anyone else,

Sir Horace: Plunkett had not been on our original
list of speakers, but aﬁ the end he was called on for a
speech. I greetly feared for the result as he is_far
from eloguent. But he did better than I had ever heard
nim before, And it was clearly brought home to me that he
is one of those speakers who do best without-previous
preparation. He 1is: over-conscilentiocus; hé‘dreads

omitting anything. Give him time to prepare and he will

drag in every minor detail for miles round. But get

him suddenly on to his feet, and he will deliver you,
with quite sufficient fluency, a ﬁlow‘of'éommonsense
whose manifest earnestnessjand patriotism more than
atone for any lack of art in delivery. I have heard
him talk down a telephone about twice as: well as: he
usually talks on & platform, :At the Albert Hall he got

an excellent reception.

Next day one hastened to look at the papers,
Result - similar to that after my Central Hall meeting.
Our great gathering was scarcely mentioned at all,

One or two Conservative papers gave half a column to it,
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but they reported, not the speeches but the
interruptions. I then understéod why the interruptions

had been so systematic.

So much for governﬁent by coalition! Never let
us have 2 coslition again. It means that almost every
newspaper is defending the government. One can never
hear the other side. 0f the morning papers, the Daily
News and the Manchester Guardian were our only stalwarts.,
The Timess and Daily Mail would not even publish letters
for us, although their views often coincided with ours.
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CHAPTER V111.

e ——

GREATLY INCREASED ENTHUSIASM IN THE SPRING OF 1921.

On the 1lst January 1921 Miss Edith Stopford became
our secretary. De Lisle Burns. had done very well during
nis two and & half months of office, but he cost us £500
a year; and he was now offered an important post at the
Headgquarters of the lLabour Party. Miss Stopford 1s Irish
by birth, though English by education, A Courtown Stopford
one of the‘old Cromwe;lian stock, settled negrly three
centuries in Ireland, and, when Nationalist, more bitterly
and determinedly Nationalist than any other. Having had
some previous experience as secretary of a suffragist.
association, being & niece of Mrs. J.R. Green and first
cousiﬁ by marriage of Sir John Simon (throﬁgh his first
wife, & Miss Venables), Miss Stopford was singularly well
fitted to carry on our work. 4 republican (for Ireland),

of excellent shrewdness, and genuine enthusiasm,

Her arrivel rather signalised the gradual change
that was coming over the personnel of the office. It was
automatically passing into the hands of Irish peopde,
simply because they were more ready to do the work
and more devoted to it than the English'membegs. The
movement remained English; but the actual ﬁaily drudgery
was done by Miss Stopford, Mr. B.C. Waller, Miss Margaret
Lawrence, Mrs;, Wilson, Mrs. Stephen Spring Rice and myself,
all Irish. Misg Stopford, for 1nstan¢e, could not‘afford
to work for nothing, but she was willing to do so for less
than half the salary that De Lisle Burns had received,
thereby saving us about £280 a year.  Similarly the others
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were ready to do clerk's work for nothing or, if this were

impossible, for low-salaries. Az will be seen by their
names, they were all members of well-known families of the

Irish gentry. %

As I am recording our work during this perilod,

I shall just give a short description of the office routine.

It will interest me in years to come, even 1f no one else

_ever reads 1t!

To desceribe Miss Stopford's work would be impossible,
it was so varied and universal., As secretary she had to
overlook everything that everyone else did; and, as in
the case of all secretaries, her day consisted in a series
of interruptions. Whenever she sat down to write a
letter, some visitor came-in to pour out his: griefs to her
for perhaps &n hour or more. Sonetimes & telegram
arrived from Ireland; and these were éften very painful.

Telegrams asking us to intervene to save the life of some

unfortunate man who hadi been sentenced to be hung for a

crime which, we were assured, he had never committed.

&nd 1t w&s often impossible not to believe that he was
innocent. i:pave seen Miss Stopford in tears over cases
of this sort. I firmly believe that ﬁany of those
executed were not guilty. It was this cursed system

of trying to terrorise a whole people by means of reprisals,
of substituting vengeance for justice, which demoralised
the whole mentality of those eng&ged in it. I.could quite
understand that the officers and men who went in danger

of their lives: should show no mercy for any man whom

they really believed gullty of attacking them, but it soon
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There was one English girl with us, Miss Seward
daughter of a Cambridge professor., She did excellent
work. ] ,
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becéme apparent that they cared nothing about the
individual as long as: they got a life for a life, I say
nothing of the more celebrated cases: such &s those of

Mr. Quinn, of Father Mangan and young Crowley, of Clune,
Mr. Lysaghﬁ's secretary and the two men with him, of

the Croke Pérk vietims, of the Drumcondra murders;, of
Father Griffin, of the Mayors: of Cork and of Limerick, -
of others of their calibre. These of course are ﬁell-knmmm
But there were innumerable less-known cases that came %o
our ears; and left us conviﬁced that time and again another
innocent man had suffered or was to suffer, and that we
could do nothing to save him, We could raise protests

of course, and we d4id ralse protests. Lord Henry
Bentinck and many of our other friends were continually
writing to the Prime Minister: but without result.

Sir Hamar Greenwood denied‘everything in the House.

And, more maddening still, no one was: responsible. The
system was carefully arr@nged so that 1t should be
impossible to bring home responsibllity to anyone. |

The Cabinet washed their hands of the situatlon. In
Dublin the offiecial concerned always denied his liability.
Meanwhile the English papers except the Daily News and

the Manchester Guardian, combined to preserve secrecy.
And, as everyone knows, when Mr, Hugh Martin 6f the Daily
News published: some accounts; of the true state of affairs,

his life was openly threatened by the Black and Tans.

One or two instances will illustrate what I mean.
In Dublin during those early days a man named Lynch was
mardered in his bed by the police; no trial of course;
no inguest as far as I remember. Inquests were forbidden

throughout most of Ireland during most of this beriod,
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so as to prevent the truth being discovered. But we

were informed that this man Lynch was not the man whom

" the police were looking for, but his cousin; and moreover
that the man whom they were in reality tracking was entirely
innocent of the crime in question. It had been committed
by a third man named Lynch. I do not know whether this
story was true or not. I suppose it will be sifted some

day.

Another story which I heard a little later on was
that of an Irish prisoner (his name was given me, but I
have now: forgotten 1t), for whom a rescue was arranged.
It‘was'entirely sucecessful., His friends succeeded in
reaching his cell, but he refused to escaps, Ee pointed
out to them that he was entirely innocent and that he had
such excellent proofs of his'inndcence that he could not
possibly be condemned; so that he eould only injure his
own case by any atiempt~at evasion., They actually opened
the door; but he refused to pass through it. This man
was afterwards found guilty and executed. This: story

I believe to be true.

I think thet in years to come no one will believe,
as indeed now many- English people can hardly believe,
the extraordinary cynicism of these times. One instancg
that brought it home to me as much as any other waé a case
that I heard retailed at a tennis party at Eitham Hall,
Warwickshire, the home of Miss: Perry. After our game
we were all sitting round a table having tea, when an
officer present beg&h to talk to the lady next him about
the cage: of a Sinn Féiner who, according to the papers,
had been rescued by a. party of friends masquera&ing as ’

British soldiers. This officer seemed immensely amused.
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He said: "Oh, the papers: did not kndﬁ*everything.‘ This
man was taken out of prison all right, but not by Sinn
Féiners. He was one of those whom the Black and Tans
wanted to get. They knew he was guilty but they.-could
not prove it. 'So they broke into his prison and took
him out and killed him™. The lady to whom he spoke went
off into fits of laughter. But this instructive little
anecdote gave me a good. idea of the sort of tone that

prevailed at the Courts-martial.

Yet there is no one who has: always had more
admiration for the Army than I have., It so happens that
I have not a single male relative who is pot in the Army.
A11 our family go into it. My father was in it, my
three uncles were in it, and 2ll my cousins. It was the
dream of my youth to be a British officer. And, having
been brought up at Wellington College, a military schéol,
nearly all my oldest friends are soldiers. I meet them
continually and telk with them. 1 meet them serving in
Ireland sometimes. They are good fellows; 1t is this
cursed policy of the Tory éxtremists that sets them to do
this work of terrorism, and makes it a point of honour

with them not to fail in achieving 1it.

A1l this dissertation has rather takem me away from
my descripiion of the office routine. But the above
gives an idea of the sort of atmosphere in which we lived;
especially Miss Stopford, who ﬁesides an immense amount of

routine, had to do most of the interviewing.

Next I come to my own department, the meetings,
which I need not recapitulate except to remember with

gratitude the principal friends who helped me. My Job
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_was: an 1ndependent-oneafrom the rest of the office. I

was: in reality a sub-committee of the Council, charged
with attending to meetings; my original collaborator
Pringle (a Liberal M.P.) had been too busy at the House
of Commons to help me. And I soon ceased calling on him,
because the poiice put such delays in the way of anyone
calling at the House. They were afrald of bomb~throwing.

Of the speakers in our cause Sir John Simon was
undéubtedly the best. But after the first he became
rather too busily engaged at Liberal snd other meetings
on the Irish Question to speek very often for our Council.
I imagined also that he was perhaps & little ﬁettled at
not having been invited to speak @&t the Albert Hall, - but
I may wrong nim. It was not my fault that hé'was omitted.
But he: went round Epgland-ad&ressing large and successful
assemblages, and we gave him a&s: his second speaker
Harrison of the I.D.l. already mentloned. Harrison, with
his: splendid war-record, his Irish expefience and his
natural eloquence made an excellent supplement to Sir John.
The two achleved great successesfat many of the most

important centres in England.

After-H&rrison, I think I should name Grey és.having
done more spade-work in the speaking line than anyone else.
Mr. R.C. Grey was a retired civil serﬁant of over twenty
years service, formerly British Resident at one of the

Meley Stetes. Though married and well past the military

age in 1914, he had gone out to Serbia working on the

Serbian Relief Fund and had been taken prisoner by the
Austrians. in Belgrade., At the end of the War he settled
down in Ireland, being half-Irish and anxious to end his
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days: there, But when the Black and Tans reached his
district, it very soon came between him and his rest,
Several police-murders: and outrages took place in his
neighbourhpod. Roused by these, he set out once again'
and came across: to England to make kmown thé true state

of affairs far and wide. He: began by writ;ng an
excellent leaflet describing his: experiences, and we
distributed and sold it by the thousand. At the same time
he came 6ut as a speaker, and made quite a mark at our |
meetiﬁgs. Very soon the news of his work reached Ireland.
His name was posted.at the police-stations. He was
officially "on the run®* in his native land. But we got
some of our.friends toﬁinterest themselves: in him over here.
Lord MacDonnell tock up his case and spoke. to Mr, Short

(I think) about him. So he was: able to continue his
work. But Mrs. Grey led a life of great anxiety and
strain in Ireland, often wondering whether thg police

would burn her house over her head.,

As regards the other'speakers; I give a list of
those on whom I chiefly relied.. Their unselfishnesé‘was.
wonderful, especlally perhasps Mrs. Crawford, Francis
Acland, Miss Buckmaster and Hammond.

Press-cuttings: ete. * This was Waller's department.

Mr. Bolton Waller was: well-known on account of his work
on the League of Netions question. We had from the first-
tried hard to get articles into the newspapers, both

., London and provinecial. With this purpose in view, Waller

nad been engaged and placed in charge of the press-cuttings
books which were kept in the outer office by the ladies

- who volunteered to work for us. They spent hours: each

day cutting out everything of importance in the Times,

1
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the Irish Independent, the Freeman's Journal, the Dally
News and severai other papers. Our press-cuttings

books: were excellent,

But Waller was never able to make a success of
the press work, The London press were nearly all hostile
and the local papers very little lnterested. I had from
the start been able to get some articles written for the
Liberal local press: and some promises from the Labourites,.
and do not think that Waller ever achieved much more.
But he developed another line which became very importént
and I conslder very successful; namely that of providing
;matter of all sorts to speakers, both on the p;atform
and in the House of Commons. He soon perfected an
excellent system of questions which he supplied daily to a
small but energetic group of M,.Ps. who regularly shelled
‘the Government wWith them whenever there occurred & possible
occasion. Not'only our own M.ESunamély, Lord Henry,
Francis &cland and Oswald Mosley, but various other
stalwarts such as commander Kenworthy (afterwards on our
Committee), Captain Wedgwood Benn and others. I cannot
nelp thinking that the gradual change that occurred in
the House of Commons; was largely due to this constant

hammering by Waller.

_ 1t was our experience of this department of Waller's
which converted me once and for all from any belief in |
government by coalition. Never again let us have a
éoalition. Even party-government 1is better. Under &
coalition'you get all the newspapers of one way of
thinking, all supporting everything that the Government
does, all chorusing the same lies, And. the House is

just as bad. The great majority of members simply



[ 5]

- 62 -

record the;r votes. They have put so many of their
convictions in theilr pockets when joiniﬁg the Coalition
that they mey as well let the rest go as well. 0ld
members: told me that there had never before been such a
calm lack of principle in the: Commons. There was simply
a large dull majority, many of its members new men,
registering their votes in favour of the Government

regardless of right or consclence.

It was: not only at meetings and with his pen that
Grey did good work. He went about England raising
branches of our Councill. For a long timé helwas the only
person who attempted this work, as we were all tied to
the: office. Finally Jjust beforg the end, we had some
paid orgaﬁisers to continue this line? but this sort of
branch work 1s: far better done by a person of position,
and one who like Grey can go unpaid. Before the truce
we had no less than thirty branches of our Soéiety dotted
here and there all over Great Britain, very largely due

to the efforts of Grey.

Literature.  As regards our Literature there is in
reality a great deal to say, bécause it waszpéobably our
strongest point. We included among our members guite a
large number of well-known wrilters. ur difficulty was
which to reject of the pamphlets, lraflets and reporis

that were written for us. Before: the end of the campaign

" we must have hadi nearly thirty, almost every one of which

was signed by a well-known man such as Hammond, AE (George
Russell), G.K. Chesterton, Hilaire Belloc, Robert lynd,
Clutton Brock, Mrs. J.R. Green, Basil Williams, H.W.
Nevinson and others; also valueble reports by Sir Henry

Lawson, Mrs. F.D. Lecland, Judge Bodkin, the Women's
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Tnternstional League: and the Labour Party's Report.-

And! to complete the list, several excellent letters or
speeches;, the best of whlch were from Sir John Simon and
Cardinzsl Logue. 1 have never heard of any propagandist
gociety whose 1list of writers included sn'many.well-known

names.,

Put undoubtedly the best of the pamphlets were those
by Hammond. His two brochures, A tragedy of- Errors_and
The Terror in Action formed an overwhelming indictment

of the Government. He had been over to Ireland and knew
exasctly what he wanted to say to the English people.

The following paregraph for instance has always seemed to
me & magnificent specimen of ﬁhe true spirit of
Liberalism: -

rRevolution is a more terrible weapon in the
hands: of a government than in the hands of a
people. Lenin has shown that in Russia. Mr.
Lloyd George haess shown it in Ireland. This
poliey (reprisals) produced the inevitable
answer. The I.R.A. grew in strength, guerrllla
warfare increased, the men who regerded themselves
as defending their country &gainst this oppression
became more daring and more ruthless.

The Government replied in December by
introduecing Mertiel Law and setting up a code of
punishment to which no parallel cen be found since
the days of Judge Jeffreys. It was: made a crime
punishable with death to shelter a rebel, so that
father or mother could be hung for giving bread
and water to a fugitive son., Within two months
men and boys were being shot in batches: for
possessing revolvers or taking part in ambushes.
Collective punishment, so fiercely condemned by
Englishmen when adopted in other countries was
adopted as: an official practice. And this last
effort of force was: followed, like every other,
by a terrible increase in c¢rime and disorder.

For two years Ministers: have pursued a policey,

step by step, of which this at least cannot be

disputed, that if it is a wise polilcy, then Prussia

was wiser than England, Turkey was wiser than ’
_ Prussia and the Englishmen who died in Flanders or

the East died, like Cavaliers, for a mistaken

sentiment™.

pr again the last parazgraph of his pamphlet which to me

stands out &s a splendid instance of broadmindedness,
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coming as it does from an Englishman,

The writer asked an Irish bishop, well-known
for the moderation of his views, whether the spirit
of Ireland was breaking under this flerce grasp.

The bishop repliedi: 'The other day a chaplailn went

to a prisoner to tell him that his brother had been
put to death that morning. How did he die? He
died bravely for Ireland. Then I am happy. 'That"
said the bishop, "is the spirit of the women whom I -
have: to comfort, women whose sons are fugitives or
prisoners or dead, We are proud %o give them for
Irelend$' Men and women, living in poverty, their
1ives bounded by the narrow horizons of daily work
and daily want speek with & light on thelr faces of
this sacrifice, %let us all perish that the Ireland
of our children may be free'., The mother of a boy
who W&S: shot as a rebel declared last week: 'l am
proud to have reared him; prouder still that he died
for Ireland'. By these words she was: tempting
punishment, - for men are: explating such language to-day
in Irish prisons. Nobody can move a&bout in Ireland
without becoming conscious: of this spirit. It 1s

to be seen amid all the strain and sorrow of thelr
wearing life, in the eyes of the people, 1in the way
they walk, in their whole bearing and temper.

They have learnt if no one else has: learnt what
Seneca meant: Non quid sed guemadmodum feras, interest.
*Tt is not what you have to bear but how you bear it
that matters!'. “This is a tragedy" sald an Irishman
to the writer, 'but it 1s your tragedy, not ours'.

He spoke the truth. Over our ingustice brood the
lengthening shadows: of despair: over Ireland's misery
there steals the distant dawn®. . :
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CHAPTER 1iX.

DIARY OF TEN DAYS SPENT IN IRELAND., EARLY SPRING 1921.

One day Basdil Williams said to me: "Will you go
up to Edinburgh and help them found a Branch there?®,

- I answered: "That would probably keep me: eway for
& fortnight or more. Owing to my wife being an invalid
I never go so far away from home unless I go to Ireland®,
So Grey went to Edihburgh and helped: them to found the -
Branch there. But soon aﬂterwards I received an invitatior
to a congress organlised in Dublin by the Irish Dominion
League., And I felt that if the office could spare me for
Edinburgh it could equally well spare me for Dublin.
So I accepted. As a matvter of fact Miss Stopford wrote
to me at the end of six days asking me to come bdack,
so I only remained away for ten. But the conditions
during this ten day visit to my native land struck me as
being so extraordinary that I declded to keep a diary
and risk my papers being examined. It was kept in Italian
so that the servants, &t a&ll events, should not understand

it, and mest of the proper names were omitted.

The enclosed is & translation of the original with
a few additions at points where I had left gaps for future
insertions of matter which seemed safer retained In my

memory than committed to paper,

Ten days: in Ireland at the time of the I.D.L. Conference

Tuesday., T arrived at the Kildare: Street Club after a
good crossing. Tired, but feeling well, and no trace of
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seasickness.

Wednesday. I went to the I.D.L. Conference. There were
fifty of us there or perhaps sixty. We were all agreed, |
except two or three, namely Stephen Gwynn eand & Dr.

Crofton who wanted us: to accept the new Home Rule Act.
I

Crofton related to us how he had been (together
with Colonel O'Gowan) an intermediary between the
Government &n@fArthur Griffith, Be said that the
Government had offered Dominion Home Rule, and that this .
had been accepted by Griffith at first, but afterwards
refused. I enquired whether it had been & written and
gigned offer, and he sald not. Indeed I now hear that
Sinn Féin took it for & ballon d'essal, which seems very
. probable, And this small episode brings it home to me
the impossibility of negotiating except through

authorised delegates on elther side.

It is seid thet these people Messrs. Gwynn and
Crofton, Sir Willilam Hutcheson Poe, Shenks: and Lord
Decies are to stand as candidates for the Southern
Parliament. DBut whether they will be elected is qﬁite

snother and a much more doubtful matter. .

During our interval, Mr. Anderson of Department
fame invited me to lunch with him, Several old friends
and aéqﬁaintances were there, including Father McCotter
whom I had met in Belfast in 191l. '

Thursday. I went off with Sir Henry Lawson (our
Lieutenant Genersl) to be introduced to AE. (George
Russell)., He is a real Bohemian; but & men of genius:.

I have never heard a men talk better. He ‘is certainly
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one of the most interesting Irishmen alive, After a

long conversation two conclusions stand out in my mind.
Firstly, that it is impossible to arrive at any solution
except by means of free negotiation; negotiation, that is,
in which the Government does: not claim the right of naming
those Sinn Féiners whom 1t refuses to meet. And secondly,
that there must be no demand for & surrender of arms.

AE, told us that it would be impossible even for the
leaders of the revolution to obtain a surrender of armé;
the men would refuse to give them up. The uiltimate
result of the negotiation I gethered, would probably be
some férm of Dominion Home Rule.

At the Club I was much amused at the rabld
politicians who surrounded our General; mostly
- Gonservatives, Especially & man named Guiness who is &
leader of the old Unionist Association. Now at last I
understand what they are hoping for. Even now, after
all that is: gone, they/;gging to save the Union! They
think.the Belfast Government will not last long, and that
the Southern Parliament will never see the light of day.

So the Union will be left intact in all its glory.

Another politician, but one of the opposite camp,
was Sir Henry Grattan Bellew, He: 1s:a& finely-bullt,
good-looking man and full of enthusiasm. He told me many
very interesting things. For instance, he says the old
R.I.C. cannot bear ﬁheaBlack and Tans. In the barracks
near Mount Bellew they sit down to dinner at oppésite
gides of the room, , But it 1s sald that now, owing to
resignations, there are not many left of the old& R.I.C.

Sir  Henry Gr&ttén Bellew also told me various

stories about the recruiting of the Ulster Volunteers
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during the War, He said that & good many of them were
recruited with the connivance of the doctors while still
under age or physically unfit. On these grounds,
therefore, 1t was: very easy to gef them demobilised soon
afterwards. So out of the Army they went, back to their
homes, a&and shortly &fterﬁ&rds‘enlismed again and went
through the éame performance once more. All this

of course was merely & device to increase the number of
Protestant recruifs, - on paper, - for political

purposes;, compared with the Catholics.

. A third friend was Harry Fowler ® ., He elso
talked politiés. He told us that "without reprisals he
could not live in Ireland%? that mi?he real remedy was
to shoot five Sinn Féinerésfor eve;y goldlier shot, and

to burn a village for every house burnt by the rebels™.
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® Harry Fowler is a very old cricketing friend of mine,
though a rabid Unionist. He hed been employed in the
recruiting office during the war, and hastened to inform
me that "Ulster had sent more recruits: than the rest of
Ireland put together". This remark rather tended to make
me trust what Bellew.had told me about the recruiting
methods, because it is absolutely misieading. I knew
through figures: supplied from the Chief Secretary's office,
that there had been 47,000 Protestant recruits, and 81,000
Gatholic recruits in all Ireland. So 1t is just
concelvably possible that if one included all the Ulster

Catholic Nationallsts as "Ulstermen" one might just make

an Ulster mejority over the remaining Catholics. But
Harry Fowler's implication of course was that more
Orangemen had joined up than all the Catholics put together.
I said to nhim: "You must be counting Ulster Catholies

as: well as: Orangemen'™, and he answered "“Oh, I make no
difference between Catholic and Protestant"™. But he had
of course 1implied what I state. And these unfortunate
Belfast Catholics had been urged to join up so that they
might be spared partition!

It is: a profound pity that so nice a man should be
so bitterly hostile to the people among whom he lives,
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I asked him if he could stand seeing all the villages of
his native county burnt. He ma&de no reply. But soon
afterwards he answered that Wone must governm I am
bound to gay that I cannot see any necessity for
governing 1f the whole people 1si wiped out. Fowler said
that.the war in Ireland would be over by the end of the

summer. X

Harry Fowler was on the track of our General. .
He invited him to stay with him from Satufday to Monday
(I was glad to know that Sir Henry was already engaged).
But he wgs;also'out to prevent other people from being
on his track. When Gratten Bellew was talking to us;,
Harry Fowler came over and very gravely warned him that
he was in danger, - presumably from Government agents.
I suppose this was intended to frighten him. But Bellew
took very little stock of 1t. And matters have come to

a curious pass when & man cannot talk privately to e

friend at his Club.

After returning from our visit to AE,, Sir Henry
Lawson and I went off to the Shelbourne to see lady
Sykes. She struck me as being nervous. I did not then
know that she was on the point of starting to see Arthur
Griffith in prison.

I found Colonel Moore there, and Captain McManus.

They were coming to lunch with me. And we had a most
interesting time. Colonel Moore had been arrested a
fortnight before, because they had found a copy of the
Bulletin among his letters. He had been placed on a
lorry as: a hostage and driven through the town like a
maléfactor; a. noble recompense for having offered his
#® This; was the third date that 1 had heard fixed.

In October I had been assured that Sinn Fé&in would be

wiped out by Christmas. After Christmas; I had heard
that it would be over by Easter.
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life a thousand times in the wars: of the Empire.

After lunch, they (Colonel Moore and McManus)
took me to visit Gwynn. He told us: thet the night before
the police had almost teken Desmond Fitzgerald (who
had been "on the run* for about a year), but he had gbt
away ., I£ was, theyfsaid, a raid to kill not to capture.
(They knew this from the fact that the raiders were in
mafti). And my friend McMenus had only just missed
being in the house, He had gone home early. To be
killed in this way would have been a sad end for & man
who had lost half a foot in Gallipoli.

They told me that Desmond Fitzgerald would like
to see me, so I promised to be on the look;out'for a note
from him on the following day. - (I may add here that
I never received any note from him, He had arranged to
see me on the following afternoon, but was captured during
the morning. Having been "on the run® for so long, he
had become rgsh. and had goﬁe home to ﬁi& flat to see
his wife and get shaved. Unfortunately for him, there
were two detectives watching the door of the house
so he was taken, and never wrote his note to me, - perhaps
fortunately from my point of view! I have since met
Desmond Fitzgerald and he has told me that he believed he
owed his life probably to the fact that the officer on
duty, the notorious Hardy, the torturer was drunk fhat
night!) |
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X Colonel Moore of course had nearly thirty years:
service in the Army had had earned a C.B., for hls work
during the Boer War, while he was in command of an Irish
battalion. During that time he accomplished the difficult
task to turning his infantrymen into & complete battalion
of Mounted Infantry. ' :
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Friday. I went with the General to visit Erskine
Childers., ﬁe looks: worn out. His face 1s like a
skeleton and very pale. -His wife is not well; she is
bn the sofa; but the strain has told far more on him

than on her,

We were there for an hour-and-a-half, - Hrs.
Childers exercising her most alluring persuasions on the
General. He of course was charming as ususl. And
out of all this conversation with them, two main points
remain graven on my mind, - almost the same two which I
gathered from AE. (1) We must persuade them to initiate
negotiations without eany preliminary conditions on either
side; no exclusion of any of the Irish leaders, and no
demand for laying down arms. (2) It will be better not
to hold another Irish election under the present appalling
conditions.,

As regards Erskine Childers therefore, our
decisions have not changed. Three months ago he and 1

came to exactly the same conclusions.

After luncheon I went to see Sir John C'Connell.
He has done splendid work during this period of suffering.
He is on the Committee of the Peace Conference (Sir
Horace Plunkett's Peace Conference). It was he who
entertained and-supported the Archbishop of Perth during
hils attempt at negotiating with Lloyd George, and he has
now undertaken to bring to light the truth about the
Drumcondrs murders, He gave me to-dsy the sworn
deposition of Joseph Murphy, brother of one of the
murdered men: it is & record of unimaginable cold-blooded
blackguardism, And one realises what a profoundly

moving scene it must have been when this boy came and
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poured forth his story in the solicitor's office, in
order to get Jjustice for the assassination of his only

brother.

It seems that they lived together in the same
lodgings, both being at work in business houses in Dublin.
& few evenings ago James Murphy (the murdered han) went
out with a friend named Kennedy to spend & few hours at
the pictures or at a game of billi&rdS. Joseph saw no
more of them that evening. But at about 3.30 a&.m, that
night, he was awakened by the flashing of an.electric
torch in his face. It was the:poliée who had come to
tell him that his brother had been found badly wounded,
and was now in the Mater Misericordiae Hospital.

The police searched his room, but discovered nothing.
'Neither of these boys were in the I.R.A. nor took any
part in polities. =

Joseph dressed himself guickly and they took.him
off in a lorry to the Mater Hospital. There he found his
brother in bed, desperately wounded, and heard his story.
It appeared that after leaving the cineﬁa‘at about 9.30 p.nm.
the brother had been included in a "hold-up™ by the armed
forces of the Crown in Talbot Streei, and séarched,'and-
then put on to & military lorry and taken to Dublin |
Castle where he was examined, Nothing compromising was
found on him and he answered all gquestions satisfactorily,
g0 he was released and told to go home. But as it was
by now after 10 p.ﬁ. the hour when the curfew began,
and it would therefore have been unsafe for him to walk

through the streets, the officer in éh&rge told sone
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¥ I have since heard that they were in the I.R.A,
but had taken no active part in politics. Whether
this is true I do not know.
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soldiers to take both him and Kennedy to their homes

in a motor lorry.

They started, expecting to be taken home.
But instead of this they were taken about three miles
away by Drumcondra to Clonturk Park. There they were
turned out and taken into & field. Some o0ld tin cans
were put over their heads, and some shots were fired at
them. Kennedy was killed at once. But Murphy fell
to the ground wounded, and was left to die, He had
received four bullets; one through the tin c¢an into his
mouth; one on thé left cheek; one on the right cheeg;'
and one through the breast. '

An hour or two afterwards two of the Bublin
Metropolitan Police heardi his moans while they were on
their besat. They picked him up and took him to the
Mater Hospital.' |

Sir John 0O'Connell told me this: story and gave me
& copy of the affidavit, It has: every appearance of
being true, Mrs, Childers had spoken about it, apd
advised me to go and see the boy. She said: "Until
you have actually spoken with one of these peqpie yourself,
you will never realise what it is like®, |

-

Saturday. Our General (Sir Henry Lawson) left Dublin
to spend Saturday to Monday with Sir Thomas Esmond, the
ex~-Nationalist M.P.

I went off to see Murphy in his cheap lodgings in
Killarney Street. |

I’found_him in his clean little sitting-roon,
just going to have his dinner, At the first moment he
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looked alarmed at my arrival, but I told him immediately
that I came from Sir John O'Comnell and that I was an
Irishman. I also mentioned the Peace with Ireland
Council of which he seemed to have heard, as too the

name of Lord Henry Bentinck. Ope or two of our meetiﬁgs

have been reported in the Irlsh press.

He: is a clean, respectable boy employed as an
underling in & firm of wine merchants ( I went to their
house and they seemed to be people of good class). He
does not strike me as looking clever; has dark blue
Irish eyes and black curling hair which with his: round
cheeks give him a faintly negroid expression, though his
skin is very white and he has: manifestly no tinge of
dark blood. He had received orders to go up to the
Castle about an hour later to give evidence. It must be
a trying ordeal for himlto go into that nest of assassins
apd know that henceforth he will be a marked man; the

man who gives evidence.

He told me the whole story, Just ds it appeared
in the affidawvit, only what a profound difference it
makes to hear the man tell it himself! Mrs, Childers
was right. It is when you talk to ohe of them yourself
that you realise. One seems ﬁo'feel the blood thﬁddihg
in one's head with rage.

One point he said he had forgotten when swearing
his affidavit: namely that his brother had been tortured
while he was belng interrogated. I asked him how he

had been tortured.

"By being thumped and hit in the face®™ he said,

"with their filsts™.
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"Well"™ I said, "I should not use the word
'tortured' as that is a very strong word. I should tell

them that he was hitt.

He agreed. ®# And then it was time for him
to go. So I gave him my best encouragement. He seemed
wonderfully calm. I think that he certainly felt safer
for the fact that we were watchling his case. I

'promised to call on him again next day.

- Baeck to the Kildare Street Club., After luncheon
I had a long talk with two young officers, one of them
on General Macready's staff. He looked very pale and
drawn from the strain. Seemed to be a nice boy; had
been married for about & year or two; nis wife and
child were in England. Both officers were exceedingly
bitter against the Irish; told me that the Army was
sure to win but not very sodn; that there were B,QOO
Irish in arms and that it was only a question of gradually
hunting them down; that they- had already taken about
2,000. And the Staff Officer added that if they did
not succeed in finishing them off "he should never care
for anything again®™, What an appélling crime 1t 1s to

set good men killiﬁg each other!

|

. | Curious: they both believe in the “murder-gang®
théory and in the ubiquity.of Michael Coilins; The&

say he goes about protected by a. gang of dead shots.
Apropos of dead shopsh I passed one or two blackguardly-
looking ruffians in muftl, - manifestly not Irish - and I
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¥ Since then I have rather regretted this advice, because
afterwards I heard through the Head of the Mater Hospltal
that all over James Murphy's body there had been marks of
ill-treatment, %"He was in such a. terrible state all over%,
my informant told-.me. -



[ 13

- 76 -

noted that when one went by, there was generally another

in sight, eabout fifty yards off.

Sunday. I went down to pay another visit to young
Murphy, &s: I had promised him. - He seemed to be fairly
satisfied with his; visit to the Cestle. Be went there
on & military car with two officers:. He was then taken
into a room where five officersawere sitting round a
table. They asked him to give his story, so he repeated

it agaein. They only asked a very few questions,

Be told me also that the police officer who had
wakened him at 3.30 a.m. on Thursday week, had evidently
thought that he: (Murphy) would try sooner or later to
make his escape through fear, and had told his: lodging-house
keeper that, 1if he departed, éhe was: to report the faét
at once to the police-station. So on the Fridsay,
Murphy went round himself %o the police-station and
asked the D.M.P. for police protection in case of his
lodgings being invaded at night by Black and Tans. The
D.M.,P, he felt were at all eveht& Irish. They prom;sed
him that two policemen would patrol outside his door
during the night. So here we actually have & perfectly
innocent man protected by the local police against the

danger of being murdered by Government agents. %

For luncheon I went out to Killiney, to Sir John
0'Connell!s: house, A party of six people (excluding
‘m&self) ail interesting‘&nd apparently all interested.
Sir John and lady O'Connell, & cousin 0'Connell who 1is
a:priest, R.A. Andefson of the Departmeht, Lennox Robinson
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% Sir John O'Connell afterwards told me that he understood
that this protection had actually been given. He seemed
to have doubted its possibllity at first.
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the playwright, fresh from his success in London with
%The whitefheaded Boy™"™ and Miss Birch. The conversation
éaried to an extraordinary degree between the opposite
poles: of bitterness and gaiety. Anderson told us the
now well-known story of the Orangewoman who used to
frighten her children away from & dangerous quarry by
telling them that “it was full of wee Popes". At
another moment the“young priest was tellingkus of*the‘
extraordinary state of apathy that existed in several
districts;, where the people actually allowed the Black
and Tans to commit murder, and made no complaint for fear
of the whole village being burnt and more people killed
in vengeance. I knew how true were‘these cases, .
because even in England we had sometimes found it hard

to get signed evidence for fear of reprisalslon'the

home ©or on the old parents.

After luncheon we went out to see the ruins of an
ancient chufch which stands just above Sir John's: garden.
It is said to be of the tenth centur}; extremeiy
interesting. And Sir John pointed out another similar
ruin on the Island of Howth. There must have been
hundreds -of these small stone churches in Ireland in those
early days. I should say that architecture was far.
further developed there than in England before the Norman

Conquest.

Monday. Sir Henry Lawson turned up again after
spending an interesting week-end with Sir Thomas Esmond,
In the afterncon I arranged a meeting between him and
Colonel Moore. This had been my aim for several days,
as I thought it would be & pleasure to Moore, especially

in hissbresent circumstances; and knew that Lawson would
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be interested to hear his views. Apparently it was a

great success.
That evening Sir Henry returned-to England,

During the afternoon I managed to get in half an
hour with Sir John O0'Connell. He had béen up to the
Castle to see about Joseph Murphy's case, and had returned
very much satisfled with his visii. General Macready
had said that he knew that such murders: had taken place
all over Irelahd and that 1t was necessary to make an
example; in fact he had already had two policemen
(fuxiliaries), arrested in Dublin, and one over in England
for trying to terrorise the witnesses. O'Connell was
extremély pleased. He fancies that Generéi'Macready
has no great love for Tudor and his Black and Tans.

This is a brave action on the part of O'Connell. At
the very least he runs the risk of haviﬁg his: office
raidéd and his business as a solicitor seriously injured.
But he says that he doesn't care if they kill him.

Tuesday. In the morning I went to pay another visit to
Erskine Childers but without adding mueh to my previous
Anformation. In the evening after dinner I'wgpt of f

with old Lord Monteagle to pay some interesting calls.

I had told him how much distressed I felt at what was

going on, and how extraordinarily helpless one seemed to be.
Before the War how easy 1t would have been to put a stop

to the whole thing! I had known plenty of peoplé who were
influential enough_to have moved half Englandlin a case

of this kind. But now the whole belance of ﬁower was
altered. The Liberals had nearly all turned into
Coalitionists. Lloyd Geofge the champion of freedom

for the people was now the promoter of a secret campaign
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of repression and outrage. My own personal friends were
scattered. Even Eustace Fiennes whom I had so often
helped, who had been Winston Churchill's private secretary,
even he, my own member was now thousanés of miles away,
Governor of the Seychelles Islands, somewhere on.the far
gside of the Indian Ocean. Both parties were united for
‘the purpose of repression, and, worst of all, they had
secured nearly every single one of the great papers, not
only in London, but in the profinces, in one vast

consplracy of secrecy.

When I told this to Lord Monteagle he was very
sympathetic, and took me round to see certain
acquaintances: of his. We went to the house of Mrs.
‘McBride, formerly better known under hef maiden name
of Maud Gonne. I was greatly struck by her appearance.
She must héve been & very good-looking woman, and one
of considerable charm: tall, graceful, feminine,
wonderfully young-looking even now, although she has a
grown-up son.. They spend their time between France and
Ireland (I belfeve ;she is half-French). At her house
there was; guite & large party; poor old Mrs. Green whom
I already knew; Darrell Figgis whom I had met when I was
in Belfast in 191l;, Jjust & few d&ys;aftér he had helped
to run the arms: from Howth on the occasion‘of the Bachelor's
Walk episode. He'was greatly improved in appearance and
menner; far more quiet and modest. And there were
seven or eight others;, hardly one of whom had not lately
been in danger of his life. But for the presence of my
companion I doubt my having been admitted at tﬁe door.

As: it was, of course, we were received in a most

friendly fashion. Mrs., McBride pressed me to sign a
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petition to Lord French for the reprieve of & boy who had been
‘condemned to death. They all said he was innocent, - Heaven
alone knows:;, - because one realises how far people can be carried
away by their passions: in revolutionary times. But I helileve
that he was innocent. Tt was very unpleassant refusing but a2t the
time I said that I could/%ién the petition or get Lord Henry
Bentinck to sign without further évidence. But next day, after
fresh enguiries, both I and Lord Monteagle signed the petition and
telegraphed to Lord Henry. (This boy was executed in spite of our
protest which certainly reached Lloyd George). |
It is terribly hard to refuse to help in saving the

life of a man whom one believes to be innocent on the assurancé of
people whom one knows to be truthfﬁl. But it was a duty to make
every enquiry first. Already our credit is nearly used uﬁ, Yet
cases of this kind are:continually being sent to us. It 1s
inevitable under the system of reprisals, by which any man whether
innocent or gullty may have to die whenever a soldier or
policeman is shot. |
Wednesday. I started off with Lord Monteagie to make enquiries
at Limerick and to spend the night with him at Mount Trenchard.

It was & long train journey, at first rather cold. However
Monteagle gave me & spare rug and then went off into a smoking
carriage to have a smoke. It was not until half through the day
that I discovered that he had given me the only rug he possessed,
and had been covering his old knees: with a mackintosh! If I had
even suspected it I would rather have dled than accepﬁed it.

At Limerick he introduced me to Father Hackett who was

going to take us out that afternoon to cross-gquestlon a boy who

had been tortured by the local police: officer in order to obtain
evidence, This police-officer, Williamson was a well-Kknown
figure in county society. I believe that Monteagle constantly
met him and all his: friends. And it 1s a good instance of the
blackguardism of the times, that even a man like Mmﬂnagleknawthat
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he could not show up this iniquity without doing more
harm than goﬁd and endangering the 1life of the boy.
For me the matter was simpler. I could take steps in
London. |

As a matter of fact I did not see the boy that day.
Just as I was; starting for the drive to his house,
Father Hackett came in'to say that (it being market-day
I think) some girls had arrived who could give me evidence
of another outrage, and that I had better put off thé
cagse of the boy Graham until the following day. So I
decided.to see the girls instead, and spent nearly an

-hour and & half listening to them and.askingithem

gquestions.

It was one of the most curious:interv%ews in my
life. I sat at a table with Father Hackett beside me,
and took down everything they said. They were three
farm girls and a young boy. It was the story of a
police attack on them when they had been enjoying
themselves at & dance at . .+ They told me
how: their elder brother had been iﬁ the I.R.A., and had
had & rifle. He was: in constant danger, belng known to
the police, in fact ﬁeing *on tﬁe run*, an@ the strain
of course wassconsiderablé: So when“Chrisxmas came
round, they decided to give a dance "to cheer all the boys
up and give them & good time", Themquestion-was, where
could they give it? The place must be secret. At that
point their difficulties began. The eldest girl was:
principal spokeswomen, and I give the following as
representing more or less accurately what she sald:
but nothing can ever reproduce ‘the constant play of her

features, or the varying intonations of her voice.
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She spoke very rapldly, as though afraid of omitting any
point within the given time, and her whole manner ofteﬁ
changed 1n one single whirling sentence, from half-impatient
explanation to me to affection and reverence: for the priest,
and then back to the genersl flow of bitter resentment

for the wrongs done them and for the death of her brother.

Her words were more or less as follows:

"The dance was given by my brother Martin.
He was on the run, so we didn't ask the people to
any address, but posted guides at Haly Cross and
the boys there showed them the way.

It was an empty house belonging to Lady Fermoy.
We took a room (this with a slightly twinkling eye).
The caretaker said that he was forced to give it
up to us;; and his daughters were at the dance.
So he gave it up at six o'clock and we 1it fires
and put kettles to boil. - At about eight o'clock
the dance began. It was not a political dance.
About 200 people came and only about five were on
the run. And there were no arms there, except
three rifles and two revolvers. The men on the
run had arms'™,

For greater security they had posted signallers:
outside, and for the first four or five hours the dance

apparently proved a great success.

“At about half-past one that night a signsl was
given. And at that moment a rocket went off and
suddenly the police opened fire. We ran up into
the room above, but bullets: came through the windows,
for the police and soldiers had the house surrounded
with & cordon. They said that they were fired on;
at all events after they rushed into the room one
of them was shot in the head and killed, though I
am never certain that it wasn't one of their own
bullets that killed him. You should look &t the
mark on the wall, Sir, to see if it-didn't come from
behind. . -

No resistance was; made, But they hit the men
and girls; with the butts of their rifies; and they
searched the house and beat most of the people
present, including the women. The girls were not
arrested, but they were assaulted, beaten and
klcked. One policeman, Sergeant Hartigan, said
thit the dance was got up to get money to shoot the
police. :

&
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A1l the girls were herded into one room, some
of them clinging on to one another in twos and
threes: with fright. And the policemen kept hitting
the boys in the next room for about an hour, and we
could hear it all going on. Then they set up &
board of four officers and the County Inspector,
and brought a2ll the boys: before them in batches of

six at & time to have their names and addresses taken;

and then passed them out another door. And they
made them run the gauntlet, hitting them with broken
banisters.

But from the beginning, Martin and the men who was -
on the run had started out to make a rush and -
break out through the cordon. And poor Martin got
through, but he was shot down and got up and ran on
agein, but he was shot again and killed. And John
Quinlan was: kilied and Maloney, and two others
mortelly wounded - Harry Wade and Danny Sheehy - and
they were carried away on an open lorry".

The above 1is a very brief version of the story that
I was told by this girl and her two sisters. A4s a study
of humen nature, it was extraordinarily interesting.
At one moment her naive ideas would meke one smile; at
another one might feel inclined to weep, I very nearly
laughed aloud when she told us how she had taken Lady
Fermoy's house, (poor prim little Lady Fermoy who used
to be such a friend of ny dear old'Aunt'Narcissa). and,
having got over the difficulty of the caretaker, had then
found that there was another even worse; namely that the
house was haunted by the ghost of some long-forgotten
General. And so these girls, practical as; ever, brought
a bottle of Holy Water and leid the General in much the
same matter-of-fact spirit that they would haye brought
a tin of Insecticide to lay the moths.

On the other hand it really did bring tears to
my eyes: when this unfortunate girl told me about the

great enthusiasm of her brother Martin Conway. - When

the order came out to hand in all fire-arms, he had said

that he never would surrender his; rifle, because "it was
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only a slave who dare not have arms", I knew. something
of these'young ideallists. And thquiri was;secretl§
very proud, though determined to show no emotlon, of his
last dash for life, and how he had got through the cordon
before he was shot down, and even then got up and went on

again..

Of course with regerd to this case one feels that
one has not heard the other side. One does not know what
proofs: the police and soldiers may have ha&.against‘Martin
Conway and his friends. One remembers that a policeman
was Killed; and one remembers tod that they go constantly
in.fear of thelr lives. The case has been tried, and I
must have gissed seeing the evidence, if indeed it was ever
published at any length. But unfortunately the sort of
trials that have taken place in Ireland all through this
year inspire very little confidence in the mind of anybody,
and were destined to do so less and less as the months
went on. From the day that the soldiers deliberately
shot an absolutely innocent young'peasanp woman, Mrs.
Quinn of Gort, and were then solemnly acquitted on the
grounds that it was merely & precautionary shot, no one
has believed that & militery trial was worth anything;
and so meny other similar instances have occurred, that
one sees plainly how impossible would be the system of
reprisals if anyone were ever punished for thenm. It-is
primerily the system which 1is: wrong, or rather, iniquitous:

and Iinsane.

As soon as: it was finished I went on to Mount
Trenchard with Monteagle and spent & very pleasant evening.
His dauther Miss: Spring Rice and his niece Mliss Knox
were exceedingly kind. They are both ardent patriots.
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In fact Miss: Knox had that day bicycled about 5 miles to &
.Gaelic league meeting, although the Gaelic League waé
proclaimed and was obliged to hold its meetings at a
different place every time. Yet I .do not suppose she went
with any political intent. We talked about Ireland of
course, and about revolution in general. Charlotte

Corday and Felice Orsini were mentioned, and I think it was
in everyone!s mind that there might quite possibly arise
an Orsini or a Corday for Greenwood or Lloyd George.

I beliéve that this has: been very seriously feared 1in
England. At one period I heard from a man who had sought
an interview with the Prime Minister that "he had never
been in such an atmosphere of fear in his 1ife*. This
may have been an exaggeration. At all eventsflet us

thank Heaven that we have so far been'spared that!

Hount Trenchard 1lies in a pretty stretch of Irish
country, between trees and hills and inlets from the sea.
It was there that Miss Spring Rice learnt her yachting, -
which later ensbled her io go with the Childers when they
ran the arms at Howth. Her father told me that she had
been & patriot from the time when she was quite a little
girl of six or seven, and had started on her own account
to learn Irish from the gardener. Very much m& own

start: only mine was with the coachman.

I went to bed early, as I had to be up early to
catch the seven o'clock train back to Limerick, to make
.my enquiries with Father Hackett Into the Graham case

and several others.

Thursday. I got down early to breakfast and started off.
It was & two mile drive to the station with a little trep

and pony, on a nice road along the sea-coast. A lovely
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morning. Breathing that beautiful sea air one felt
fresh and well. In the small station of Foynes there was
a squad of eight.pélicemen, all armed of coursé with
rifles: and bayonets.

It was & very swell trein. In fact 1t consisted
of' only two carriages. I sat down in the only first
class compartment, and saw the: police tramp into the
compartment immedistely in front of mine, and some of them
I think went into the next one in front of th&t.. There
were a few passengers doﬁted here and.there.

Presently we: started. I do not remember how far
.we had gone, but I was just beginning to feel particularly
1mag1native and peaceful when suddenly the train began

to slow down and finally came to a stop. At the sane
momént I heard a shot and a sharp thwack. That, I thought,
is a bullet hitting wood. Nothing else makes quite the

~ same sound., So T glanced out, and saw that we had-been'
nalted between the banks of a cutting; they seemed like

a psir of blinkers on either side of us. Then there came
several other shots and a regular fusillade broke: out all
round ué. T realised that I was in an ambush. “Herée),

I thought, "in my trench-coat they'll mistake me for the
officer in éhargem. S0 I took it-off and leant back as:
far as I could, wishing that my nose: were not quite so
long in case of passing bulletsi. '

The ambusheré;were evidently well-informed, because
they concentrated almost entlrely on the policé compartment,
that iz to say on the compartment immedliately in front of
mine. I could hear the whole affair going on just the
other side of my cushioned partiticn; firstly the thwack
of bullets striking our two stationary carrilages, and then
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the crashing noise of the police firing through both
windows;, blindly and in such hurriéd explosions as almost
to resemble successive volleys; each of which was followed
by the shivering of glass into atoms, - and usually
accompanied by loud profanity. 0ddly enough no bullet
came through my compartment although the carrliage was
riddled. Presently after four or five minutes of this
banging all round and pleasing expectancy on my part,
there: occurred the only noteworthy act in the episode.
The old Irish sergeant in charge jumped out on to the
least exposed side: and ran boldly along the line, - &
really plucky gction, although the: firing had by then
slackened on that side of the train, I heard him jump
on to the engine, shouting furiously: "Push off that
train; or ¥"1l blow your brains out'". then we began to
move., Thé ghots continued, but lbéking out of the
window I could not detect the firers. We emerged from
the cutting into a. grass field with rock strata sticking
up out of the ground here and ihere gll over it.

From behind one of these slanting rocks: about L0 yards
distant there came a puff of smoke. And that was the
only time that I actuelly saw anything of the ambushers.
Then wé soon left it all behind. - But the police
continued to fire for a little while afterw&rds, at
anything they thought suspicious. = They fired two shots
at a farmer who was looking at a bullock, but only
startled them a little. From first to lest the whole
episode must have taken rather aver ten minutes. But .
we were nbt halted in the cutting for more thanlabout

five by my watch.

When we reached the next station, everyone turned

out on to the platform and we found that by some absolute
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miraclé none of the police had actually been hit,

although one or two were bleeding silightly 1@ the face
from broken glasé; and éne peasant girl was crying from a
hit in the leg, about six inches above the kneecap,

and (how typiéally Irish!) she was too modest to examine
the place and see whether it was serious until the
stationmaster said to her: ®Ah, go into the waiting-room
and ye'll be by yerself!® éhe told me afterwards: that

it was-nothing serious.- She thought a plece of wood or
glass must have hit her,

The police compartment wes riddled. It w&s. .
thoroughly splintered on the inside, and in the windows
there wes hardly even a shred of glass left, except here
and there & tiny fragment sticking ouf from the frame.

I fancy that small compartment must have had at least
fifteen bullets through it from outside. And one point
rather amused e, The ambushers, it was: sald, were out
to kill an informer who was going up to Limerick to give
evidence that day, Apparently they kne& their mén.‘
Because on the side of the carriage there were six bullet
holes in & close group, evidently the work ofra steady shot -
you could have covered them with your hat, - every one

of which would have killed anyone who had taken refuge
under the seat! Only it happened that he did not get
under the seat that dey, so he survived. However they
wrecked the reilway carriage. It had to be taken off the
train at Limerick. |

On this occasion the police clalmed in the papers:
to have hit eight Sinn Féiners. But 1 do not believe that

they knew how many they hit. X
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% As a matter of fact Dermot Coffey has.sincée told me that
he saw one Sinn F8iner who had been seriously hit in this
fight, and that there were others wounded as well.
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I am glad now to have been in an ambush because it
enables: one to realise better how the troopsﬁf@el.
Even from this compsratively small test, in which none of
them were seriously hurt, one saw that the men emerged on
to the platform temporarily rather shaken and certainly |
resentful. Had any of them been killed they would have
been infinitely more so. And those who have been through
an ambush would be nervous If they suspected:that another
were coning. This might acéount partly for ithe constant
torturing of people to get informaetion out of them
beforehand. But I do not think it could account for more
than a few cases, The forture was part of the system for

terrcrising the'people.

At Limerick I was mét by Father Hackett full of
keenness. So I told him I would start in about an hour.
The fact was that hawing breakfasted hastily-at 6.30,

I was famished by 9.30. Also I wanted to write to Lord
Monteagle to tell him I was: alright, and to a@k him not

to make any reference to an ambush if he addressed a letfer
to me at Harwell, as I did not mean Car to hear of 1t

until after peace was made. I might be wanting to come

to Ireland agaln, and she would be nervous.

At about 10.30 (I think) Father Hackett turned up
again and I went off té see the boy Graham an& engulire
into his case. He was "a big lump of a boy™ as they say
in Ireland,-the son of a well-to-do-farmer, fair-haired
and well educated, elghteen years old, had Jjust left
school and was: destined to be & surgeon. - 1 include his
story at some length elsewhere, Here it 1is only
necessary to say that the Auxiliaries had arrived at his

father's farm-house at 11 &.m., one morning and searched it
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for a gun. Finding none, they then put the boy up
against the wéll and threatened to shoot him, They then
searched the house and commandeered a catapult and a
gun-case, also & gold watch. After which they forced him
to come away with them to the barracks. In the guardroom
he was: searched, and they got round him and began beating
him with their fists: in the face and body. “I was bleeding
from the teeth and nose; and my face all swélled out®*,

A sergeant was: present. This I suppose was to mringﬁa
confession from him. But he was only & schoolboy home
for the holldays and could not tell them anything.

*They left me in a cell"®. T was bleeding, It
went on-bleeding so I 1ayrdownhwith my head ﬁack and 1t
left off bleeding after about a guarter of an hour or
twenty minutes. ..... The rest of the afterndﬂn was gquite
quiet except that they kept looking at us through the
peep-hole and cailing us names, I know no reascn at all
for their being so angry with us.' There had not been
& shot fired within ten miles radius",

~

There were eleven men in the cell with him, two
of whom were brothers named Hynes, The elder Hynes aged
twenty-nine, was: chairman of the Rural District Council '
and the younger one, twenty-five yeasrs old, lived in the
house with him and their father. So, '

tNext morning at about five o'clock the younger
brother was taken out with me first. We were put
up against the door and threatened toc be shot. A
man came along with a rifle, Then we were taken along
to & room and told to strip off all our clothes. I
was put on the table first to be flogged. There were
two men flogging me, one on each side of me. They -
used canes: first, and when the canes broke, ashplants.
Colonel Williamson, the R.M. was: there, He encouraged
them. He even took a couple of strokes himself 'for
luck! as; he said. I do not know how many strokes
I had because 1 was: dazed. I had had a couple of
strokes: with an ashplant on the back of the head.

When they had finished they gave me & final bash

on the head, and told me to lis down while they
flogged Hynes™.
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Half an hour afterwards he was interrogated by-
Colonel Williamson as to where certain neighbours; of his
slept at night, but could give no information because’ he
knew nothing.

"When I had no information to give to Colonel
Williemson the policeman present knocked me down
and jumped on me, and kicked me twice in the
stomach, I had no informetion to give so I was put
back in the cell™,

I will not enter any more here, as: I have given
the report in full elsewhere, I need only sﬁy that this
unfortunate boy was left in the crowded cell for another
four days before he received any medlcal attehtion.

They then dressed his head, but not his other wounds,
although the skin had broken under the flogging. Three
days later, owing to his constant failnting he was sent %o
hospital where he remained for & fortnight with septic
poisoning of the head.

During his time in hospitel ILady Sykes saw him
in the course of her visit to Ireland as representative
of our Peace with Ireland Council. She believed him, as

I believe him.

These extracts give only & very faint idea of what
this: boy Grahan acmﬁally told me. I was listening to

_him and interrogating him for over an hour. And 1t is

when you talk face to face with & man who bhas been through
this suffering, that you realise what it means:;, - not
before. You do not begin to realise: it before,

When he was gone, Father Hackett took me for a walk
through the streets to visit a women whose son had been
killed. On the way he told me of various cases, and

especially one, a horrible case at Lahinch where, he said,
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the Government people had set fire to a house and
threatened to shoot anyone who came out, He said he
had seen the body of a man who had been burnt to death
inside; the arms and legs had been burnt off, I wish
this case could be gone into fully. |

It wes: & very painful scene at the house of the

widow. She told me thet her son had been in the I.R.A.

~and admitted that he had taken part in some attack,

Nevertheless he was: apparently a verj respectable lad,

in regular work. She saild that he had been warned that
the Government agents: meant to get him, but Qéntinued to
go to his work. One evening he did not turn up, and was

found dead in the street on hils way home.

So meny people had attended his funeral that it
was regarded as a political demonstration and they were

set upon by the police.

I did not take this case down at any length,
because I felt that as the bby had taken part in an
attack, he could only expect retaliation, - however
genuinely patriotic his motives might heve been. Also
because I could stand no more: of it for the time belng.
It was after two o'clock and I was piayed out;frqm

listéning to horrors. ' |

After luncheon I went with Father Hackett to be
introduced to the Mayor of Limerick. This: was a very
interesting interview, His name was: Mr. Clahcy.

(My recollection of him is that he was & man of medium

height, nicely dressed, who struck me &s beling well-informed

on most matters. I sized him up as being & man in some

line of business). At first Father Hackett did the
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talking. Mr. Clancy seemed to be very quiet. | At the
time.I d1id not realise the meaning of his quietness of
manner. It was very stupid of ﬁe not to realise 1itv.

T had seen it often enough during the War, when people
saii & man was feeling the strain, which in realiuy
means feeling the profound sadness of knowing that he

may soon have to leave all he cares for in the world.

Presently he became involved in the argument.
I was not now asking for evidence of outrages, but wanted
to discuss the political qQuestion au fond. He was very
interesting. But I found him & stiff Sinn Féiner.
He seemed to have less give-and-take than most of those
with whom I had spoken. For instance,'he was evidently
an unshakeable republican,. T remember saying to him that
the demand for a republic made it very hard for Englishmen
to agree, because it not only implied separation, but
also that theif own monarchical form of government was
wrong. T asked him whether the word ‘commonwealth' would
not suit as well as 'republic'. He agreed for the
moment, end we proceeded to dlscuss other points, but at
the end of our interview he smiled and said: 'Well you

know I prefer the word republic all the same'.

After léaving him, we went and Interviewed a
business man Mr, Morley by name. He was; & compromiser
and ﬁook & very intelligent view of the situatlon.

He said to me: “What is wented 1s: some man Who can play
the same part inkthis struggle as Shawe Taylor played

in the land War; and he added that he believed that he
could get appointed to represent de: Valera if I could get
Lloyd George to receive him., I sympathised with him,
but was obliged to tell him that there was Very little
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prospect of such an arrangement. Scores of ﬁen were
anxious:; to play the part that poor Shawe Taylor had played,
but the circumstances: were different. Where Sir Horace
Plunketp, where the Archbishop of Perth, where AE had
failed, it was most unlikely that anyone else would
succeed. Tndeed AE had been taken in by LEloyd: George.
Having left the Prime Minisfer with an agreement
apparently arranged, he had been arrested on his way home
and the whole negotiation had been nullified. It was
said that no sooner hed he got outsdide the door than |
Lloyd George had been attecked by the Conservative
members of his Cabinet, Bonar lLaw end his following, and
had given in to themn.

At tea-time, Father Hackett had another very
interesting person for me to meet, & monk, & Franciscan

as fer as I remember, named Father Philip. Unfortunately

I cannot recollect all that he told me. His: information

was of & general character, so that 1 aid not take it all
down. But I remember his describing how his brother,
though not a Sinn Féiner, hed been attacked in the streets
of Cork by & patrol and left unconscious, and had spent a
week in hospital. This case of Father Philip's brother
was the only one brought to me that day from oﬁtside
Limerick. |

After dinner Father Hackett took me to visit the
Daly family. This family waS'wellfkncwn in town for lts
Sinn Féin sympathles. It consisted of a mother and
three Qaughters,'well—to-do shopkeepers, The father,
&.fofmer Fenian, was dead, and the brothers and brother-in
law had been shot during the rebvellion of 1916.  They
were frankly rebels, and héd.their brother's,phopographu
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displayed on the table in his Volunteer uniform.

It seemed useless taking down all the story of what

these girls; had suffered, as I‘knew that they éould get
no redress owlng to their owﬁ record of rebellion.

So I have rather forgotten the detalls; one has heard
such countliess stories of ill-treatment that thelr
&et&ils become intermingled. But I remember thaﬁ tﬁey
had: been raided five times in éne week, besides many
other visﬁts, nearly always at. night, during which
various: things: were stolen from them. They said that on.
one or two occasions: some of the men were undoubtedly
drunk. The worst thing that was done to them was

when & girl made some resistance, - she was in a dressing-
gown with her two pigtails down her back, - and an
Suxiliary had dragged her out of the front door by the
hair and had cut off one of the pigtails, When she put
up her hand to try and save it, he had deliberately

cut downwards, with some sharp instrument and severéd a
vein between her fingers. ©She said that she might have
bled to death but for her sister's knowledge of First Aid.

I ﬁas greatly struck by these girls' exxraordinary.
courage and.defiant spirit. So far from being cowed,
they were infuriated. They were good-looking. And
I came to the conclusion that the Auxiliarles, when they
had nothing better to do of an evening, took advantege
of their defenceless; condition and thelir open rebellion
to come round and amuse themselves by humiliating them

and tyrannising over then.

Tt was 11.30 at night when I reached the hotel.
I thought I had fairly earned my rest, but the spirit
moved me to go into the smoking-room and try to classify

my impressions: of the day over a cigar. It was fortunate
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that I did so. ‘

Sitting round the fire I found three young men,
evidently officers or ex-officers. One ﬁas Irish, - I
put him down &s being a young squireen; another English in

aceent and appearance; the third doubtful.

Presently I got into conversation with them, and the
talk naturally turned on politics,. 1 began by upholding
that Lloyd George ought to meet the Sinn Féiners in
conference without excluding any of their leaders. After
some argument they branched off on to more: general lines,
and in a very short time I found that I had learnt a good
deal. They talked openly about the interrogation under
torture which was going on all over Ireland. One: story 1
remembered of a Sinn Féiner who had taken refuge as a
luna@ic {n an asylum. He was identified by an informer,
but the: Police were not certailn, So they tortured him on
chance. Tt took over an hour of torture to meke him
confess; and he is: almost the only case I know of a man's
giving in. He gave himself up; but I do not think he |
gave any other informetion. And I have oftén wondered how
the officer in charge would have felt if the man had turned
out to be only a harmless lunatic efter all,

Tncidentally I heard & possible explanation of
Colonel Williamson's treatment of Graham and the Hynes.
Two or three monthé:ago (last November or December) there
had been an attempt to shoot & man name& Titcﬁmarsh, and, as
there was no possible reason for attacking him, 1t was
thought that the person aimed at was in reality €olonel
Williamson. T gathered that Titchmarsh had driven off in
his: car from Colonel Willlamson's houses;; but nothing could
be deduced for certain, because there had been one or twWo

other people calling there in thelr cars at the same time.



- 97 -

They releted various other cases, one in Cork,
where as far as I remember, the ordeal lasted two hours,
but without result. They spoke of torture as being
gquite part of the recognised system;‘ and this was: the
first occesion on which I had heard it openly admitted
as: such; though now of course everyone knows all about 1it.
They told a story of a senlor officer who had said that
in Ireland there were hundreds of spleﬁdid fellows: who
were ready to stand all that you could give them,
without revealing one shred of information.

Most of my facts came from the English ﬁoy.

.0f the' three, the Irish one seemed to me the most
bitter ageinst Sinn Fé&in, But a small incident at the
end of the evening gave me the idea that he perhaps had
rather talked for the purpose of drswing out his
comp&nionsafor my benefit. He was speaking of the
killing of policemen, and he seid: "What I think 1s so
unfair is that the Sinn Féiners: say ihat they always
hold & trisl before shooting & men, but of course he 1is
not able to be there to defend himself®,

sQutrageous*, I said vehemently, being anxious to

-

encouraée him,

But his facesfei}. He wag evidently not too
well-pleased with my energetic agreement. 1 think he
had been trying-to insinuate: to me that Sinn Féin never
killed & man without trial.

For one moment I wondered whether these three or any
one of them, had been sent up for the purpose of talking tc

me:; but the 1ldea: was obviously absurd. It was only by a

+ thousand-to-one chance that I had seen them at all.
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In ninety-nine cases; out of a hundred I should have
hurried away straight to bed, without going near the
smoking-room; and next morning they had started off to

their work befdre: I came down.

At about a guarter to one, I turned in, It had
been one of the longest days of my life, I hed been
on the go for nearly nineteen hours; and, once in bed,

I slept like & dead man.

Friday. Up rather late and went off to have a last talk
witnh Father Haeket then back to Dublin by train. Met
Monteagle at the train; he had come up to see that I was
all right. Nothing could have been kinder than his
enguiries. He had heard at about midday that hy train
had been ambushed and 1t was he Who now told me that the
aim had been to prevent a policeman from giving evidence
at the trial now going on in Limerick.

Half-way up to Dublin three Sergeént—majorStgot in,
travelling across to England for their leave, One of |
them spoke rather openly of the: work they were doing in
Ireland, and rather apologetfcally. He evidently did
not like 1t. They were greatly interested in hearing
that I had been in the Foynes to Limerick ambush which
had appeared in all the.papers, and suggested that if I
had rolled up the chshion and put it against the side of
the carriage, that would have spopped a bullet. T do
not feel certain sbout that, but 1t would be worth trying.

In the evening I arrived back at the Kildare Street
Club.

Saturday . I spent a good portion of the day ruminating

over the things which I had seen and heard. 1t was



<4

L N

(4

13

- 99 -

evident to me that the town of Limerick was little better
than a hell upon earth, and that Cork City' was
probably in even worsé condition. But I had been
told that the worst deeds of all were done in the
out-of-the-way country villages, where concealment
was far more easy. I was; quite determined that the
truth should be known in England. What seemed to
infuriate me most was the 1de§.thgt these things:
could be done with impunity because they were done
in Ireland. Supposing, I thought, supposing that
Scotland claimed self-government would she be
partitioned? Or if she were in rebellion, would
they dare to suppress it in this way?

T went to see Sir John 0'Connell., I found
him very much less satisfled frém'mhen I had left
him about the case of Murphy and Kenhedy; the case
of the Drumcondra murders. He had_received no
further commnication from General Macready who &ﬁ
firsf had professed himself so strongly determined.
to make an example of the murderers. 0'Connell
thinks; (so runs ny note) that for them 1£ is simply
& question of hushing up the whole matter. We shall
see about that!

(As & matter of fact the case was afterwards
hushed up. A trial took place in which the officer
accused was acquitted. His nsme 1s King and everyone

in Ireland believes him to have been gullty. We

peceived later on some curiocus information as regards

that trial.

But owing to O'Connell's efforts and our own,
the facts of the case became very widely known in

England}.
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During the afternoon I called: on Mrs. McBride

and also on Mrs. J.R. Green. ¥

Tt was on this evening, I think, if not it was on
the evening before, that I had a long talk with a rabid

Unionist and finally put the guestion to him: “Are

people belng portured in your district, in the éame way
as they are all over Ireland?®™. His: reply wasi “No,

not in my district. It depends rather on the commanding-
officer.™ I was astounded a; this admlission, because

it was part of the Unionist creed to deny everything,/,/’

"and I had fully expected him to do so.

He had told me of & case of & woman being outraged

by an Auxiliary who had held a pistol to her head;

(this: also astounded: me, coming from an embittered
Unionist). But it was a case that could hardly be
proved. For one thing the woman was waiting to see (so
he said) whether anything resulted. If not, she meant
to keep silence. One had to be very careful as to what
cases one took up. £g regards women, I ha& been told
thet it would be very difficult to prove anything.

Pirstly because the Irishwoman would rather die than

. appear in court. Secondly because, aithough assaults

on women undoubtedly existed, they were few in. number.

Sunday . T decided to return to England. I could of
course have gone all over Ireland collecting evidence,
but I wanted the enquiry to be conducted by a trained
lawyer and done systematically. I knew that every case

that became public meant endangering the lives and
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= At the sge of 75 Mrs. Green had been ralded again and
again by Crown forces: filve times in one week alone.

My first visdit to her was after one of these raids: and she
looked rather pulled down. But now, only & few days later
she seemed guite normal again. A wonderful old lady!
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relatives and homes of the people who gave their names.,
It was necessary that there should be no mistakes and

that those who conducted the enquiry should be people of

such importance that they could protect the sufferers.

I ha& learnt enough now to direct anyone who would take
up: the matter. And I intended to find people whose word

. could neither be doubted nor ignored.

Moreover Miss Stopford had written over to me from
the office saying that I was wanted back there to continue
my work of sending speakers out to the meetingssail over
England.

It was a fine day and I got across very

suecessfully.

On the othar-side I travelled up with Sir A.
Chance the well-known doctor who Is: head af the: Mater
Misericordiae: hospital. T had a long talk wiith him about
the Drumcondra murders case, and he told me that when poor
young Murphy wes: brought in he was in a dreadful state
all over his body from torturing during his interrogation.
He promised me that the doctor in: charge should be

allowed to give evidence,

I began to understand that a tortured man is not
likely to live long, lest he should show his wounds.
There: was no other possible reason for killing these two

boys.

Ifthink it was Sir A. Chance (I have: heard it more

‘than once) who first told me the story of the respective

" grandfathers of the two murdered boys;lKennedy and Murphy.‘

"One of these old men had served for many years in the Army,

the other in the- Royal Navy. But at the funeral service
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of their murdered grandsons they grasped each others'
hands; and solemnly cursed the day when they had taken

service under the King.

After spending ten déys in my native land, it was
in. a mood somewhat similar to theirs that I returned to
Ehgland. I seemed to have learnt a good deal about the
real methods used in Empire-building.

I had teken notes of most of what I had hegrd
and seen, although this was ratﬁer risky. I had
written them in Italian so that the ordinary servant
or customs officer might not be able to understand them,
and would probably suppose that I was studying the

language.

(The notes of this exﬁeﬁition seem rather
crowded, But it must be remembered that they represent
ten days of strenuous work and enquiry. Also that I
had been able to arrange for almost every moment to be

occupied.

Hanwell Castle. January 15th 1954).
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CHAPTER X.

AFTER MY RETURN FROM IRELAND. THE LIBERAL HOME COUNTIES CONFERENCE.

At our first Committee &fter my return, Lady
Sykes made @ more or less formal report on what she had
discovered during her time in Ireland, After giving us
her description, she ended up by saying: ®Almost every
type of torture that was known in the Middie Ages seens

to have been revived, even to the fact that men were

made to hold very hot eggs between their bare-arm and thelr

silde®. T sald at once: "Bxcept the story of the hot
eggs, I can confirm every thing that Lady Sykes has told
us™. It was fortunate that I was able to do so, or

her stories might have been doubted. And I think she

was rather relieved at hearing my confirmatlion.

It was true. There are meny things that I had
heard but had not noted in my Diary, partly because they
were too dangerous, partly because It had confined the
diary, to events which I myself had seen, or else had been
told about by the people to whom they had actually
happened. T had for instance heard the sxofy of the
man who had had his nails: torn out by the roots. This:

I had not noted because the man in queétion (like many
of those torturedD'waé Being kept in prison, and I could
not interview him. PBut this story was afterwards

confirmed to me on good authority.

Strange. The instance which gseemed to lmpress

people most strongly in England was that of a doctor who
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possessed a fine collection of old Irish‘glass; Because
his wife was: a Sinn Féiner, the Auxiliaries called on

him one evening, took the whole collecfion out into the
yard and deliberately smashed every plece of it. 1t was
valued, some said at seven hundred, and others at a
thousand pounds. This instance I first heard gquoted by
Mrs., Crawford in-a.speech, and 1t created é good deal

of sensation. 0ddly enough it always:made:an impression,
I suppose because it was an act of such blatantly
barbari&p stupidity.

The result of this meeting was that the commitiee
allowed me to proceed with the scheme that I had been
urging for weeks: and weeks; namely to return to our
original plan of appointing a commission of prominenﬁ
people to go over to Ireland with a8 lawyer and enquire
systematically into what was going on and collect genuine
legal evidence that would stand cross-examination.

I knew that if we could issue & report of these cases

of torture: and murder, a report; signed by four or five
people whose names: would be an absolute: guarantee of

good faith, that it would be enough to shaké the -
government to its foundations. And that seemed to me the
only possiple‘way of stopping atrocitles. To try and
form & Commission which should resemble as elosely; as
possible Lord Bryce'ss Commission on German atrocities in

Belgium, and produce & similar book of horrors.

Meanwhile I was straining every nerve to stir up

opposition by other means.

In the years before the War I had done a certain
amount of political speaking, but do not count myself a
speaker, So I usually confine my efforts to supplying
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information and audiences to those who are more eloquent
than myself. After my return from Ireland, of course

I told various suitable people what I had seen and heard,
and I spent an evening with Sir Jbﬁn Simon retailing all
that I could remember. Lord Robert Cecil and Oswald
Mosley also received a full report from me of the Graham
case, which was a good one because it was confirmed by
Lady Sykesu Our only difficulty lay in the f&ctlthat the

two Hynes were in prison for three: months, And their

" evidence was necessary to support Graham's story. of

course Lord Henry and all our committee heard everything
that I could tell them,

As regards Eord Robert Gecil rather a curlous
thing happened.. It was; only & fortnight after my return,
when I was: going to interview his private secretary about
this: very matter of Graham, that I saw in the street a
large poster belonging to some afternoon paper, headed:
"Murder of the Mayor of Limerick". I bought a copy
éf the paper Et once. I was hofrified. For there I -
saw, that Mr. Clancy with whom T had spent such an
interesting hour only a fortnight before, discussing the
Irish problem, had actually been murdered. And, knowing
his views as I did, and the respect in which he was held

by his own party, it was impossible for me t6 doubt for

one moment that he had been murdered by Government agents,
as indeed was practically admitted by the paper. Any |
other supposition was absurd. Some attempts were
afterrards mede to pretend that the: Sinn Féiners had
killed him, but I always knew that this was as ridiculous
as to say, if Lord French were shot, that he had been
killed by hiss own officers.
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I read the account and began to have a very
strong feeling that he must have been disposed of
because he gave interviews: to people like myself.

There scemed no other reason for killing him. "And 1
knew that Eady Sykes: had also beeﬁ to see: him a week or

two before me..

This idea infuristed me to such a degree that I
hardly knew what I proposed to do. But, ass I was on wy
way to the League of Natlons Office, I determined at all
costs to see Lord Robert Cecil himself as well as his
private secretary. I had never met him in my 1ife,

but I determined to do so now,

" The private secretary was extremely kind and soon

arranged for me to see: Lord Robert. When I went in to

_his room, he was; probably rather astonished at my arrival,

as no interview had been arranged for me. I do not
know what I said: I was so angry that I probably spoke
more or less at random. I wanted to tell him what I
thought of the British Government and of every politician
in England.- Only two phrages have remained in my mind.
One was in the middle of the interview when he asked
rather 1mﬁatiently: "Has the Mayor of Limerick really
Eeen murdered?™® An& I said, "“Yes*, and thrust the
paper into his;hand.. The othér 1§.that at the close

of the conversation, having expressed myself more freely
than I ever have before to an entire stranger, I went
out saying: wA3l T can say is thet when I go back to
visit my nati%e country I do not probose to be a walking

death-trap®.

He was very nice about the whole matter, and still

more so whén I met him again later on. Pernaps ny
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abrupt arrival and plain speaking brought the situation

home to him more vividly than an ordinary conversation.

As a matter of fact I was not very far wrong in
my surmise. Some weeks afterwards Miss Ellis, sister
of Lady Parmoor brought me & very kind message from Mrs.
Clancy, widow of the Mayor of Limerick. She had heard
that I was greatly troubled at the idea that I was partly
the cause of her husband's déath, and. she sent to say
that she hoped I should hot &1st:esa myself about it.
That certainly it was on account of his propagande that
he had been murdered, but that thezacfual regson Was
because he had given an interview to two American
Journaliéts;arweek or two before he spoke with me. This

had signalled him out for reprisal,

From this information I rather gathered_thatlthere
was a list of some sort kept by the Authorities, and
whenever & British officer was killed by Sinn Féin, they
retaliated by killing one of the leading Sinn Féiners.
Seeing that the. Sinn Féiners were simply fighting to
preserve their national entity and the free institutions
for which they paid taxes:;, the whole scheme struck me as
very little better than a system of dominating a small
nation by murdering its leading inhabitants. Future
generations will probably cry out that such an idea
would be an insult to every Englishman. .But-th&t is
not the case, There are: men who seriously defend such
& course. For instance people like my friend'at.the
Club who advocated reprisals on lnnocent people in order
to terroriSé the others, are very little removed from
this doctrine. And only three weeks ago, when I was

discussing the troubles; in India, a British Colonel
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present, a particulérly nice person, éaid quite

seriously that he could easily settle the Indian question
if he were: given a free hand. ﬁe would quietly dispose
of the leaders. %They would simply disappeér, probably
about five thousand of them®™. I am bound to say that
another officer there disagreed with him,. But the
Colonel had spent many years in India, and, I suppose,
domination can become 2 mania. I may add that he was &

man who had often offered his own life In the Service.

In addition to the methods nemed, I decided that
T must try and speak myself at one or two meetings, and
try to tell people what I fe;t about things, although I
had not addressed an audlence since my Musketry lectures
during the War, i began with & small meeting of about
forty working men; found myself very amateurish and
out of practice, attempting too much and rather prone
to drone on without meking my points with sufficient snap '
or emphasis, Soon afterwards however I was invited to

spesk &t quite an important meeting. It was the

Annuel Conference: of the: Eiberal Home Counties
Federation. ® It was not a large audience, being only
200 in number. But every man there was a delegate
from one of tne eighty constituencies which form the
Home Counties. Here I was more successful. . One lady

delegate afterwards came and asked me to help her to get

- - - - e e e G SR A S e ol S W

& In this speech I let myself go (half unintentionally).
I found that I had told them what I thought about the
Bmpire and about Religion and "loyalty™ in England.

®How can one be loyal to the head of a murder-gang?"
These .remarks happened to synchronise:with a speech of
_the O'Conor Don at Sir Horace: Plunkett's meeting in
Dublin. “If this: goes on any more, We shall all be
damned republicans®.

Of course we both knew. that King George V was in no
way to blame. He had stood by his: word; had signed the
Home Rule Bill in 191l in the very teeth of the Carsonade;
" and was now. being covertly slandered by the Carson

following. (1954).
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up a meeting about Ireland in the north of London, which
we 4id with good results, and another delegate asked

me to come and address his: Liberals: at &lton. I:wént
to.Alton. It was only a small meeting of about ninety
people, but at the end, one of the audlence asked me to
come and address a much larger meeting at Petersfield.

I accepted: but later was obliged to ask H.W. Nevinson
to take my place, which he did with very satisfactory
results: (about 350 people there). After that I was
compelled to give it up. There was too much work in the
office. I could not get away, and found it too great &
bhysﬂcal_str&in to compose speeches after d;nner when

I had been busy all day. It was very disappointing to
find that I could not do more to help those who were
suffering in Ireland, but by that time we had quite a
large number of excellent speakers who had been to
Ireland and spoke with firsthand knowledge. It was

far better that I, known to be Irish, should carry on
with my task of organising. Several‘of our lady
speakers were doing splendid work all that summer;
notably Mrs, Crawford, Miss Buckmaster, Mrs. F.D. Acland,
Fady Bonham Carter and Lady Clare Annesley. = 4nd lady
&berdeén who had been & supporter of ours: ever since a
large l;dies' ﬁeeting got up: by Miss Stopford, was: most
kind in helping us: &;so Lady Sykes. .

' One unfortunate result of my accepting the Liberal
Home Counties' invitation was that Basil Williams was
very much hurt about it. I had been billed as coming
from the Peace with Ireland Council and he felt that he
as founder ought to bave been agsked. He: made no
concealment at all about the matter and even said to me:

"Why, you are not even a Liberal", True; I was not a
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politician at all, and did not want to become one, and
had not even heard of the meeting until they invited me
tolit. Williams may perhaps also have been annoyed at
my being asked to émand for a Liberal constituency
(which I declined) and he was never guite the same to me
afterwards. I was very sorry about it. But he was so
busy now with his literary work that he could seldom

come to the office except for committee meetings, and

" never spoke for us. People probably did not realise

his: position on the Council. He was rather Jealous of
it, - perhaps naturally - and before the end of the
summer he had guarrelled with verious other pecple,
notably Lady MacDonnell. T spent a good deal of time

in trying to prevent these differences.
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CHAPTER Xl.

4 ———

THE PROPOSED COMMISSION.

I return now to our proposed commission of enguiry
which became my principal work during these months, when
not occupied with meetings. The plan was perféctly
simple., It seemed obvious.. To stop the atrocities we
must get well-known people to show them up in such a formal
menner that the Government would be absolutely compelled
to'notice what they saidl. Lloyd George had already
refused to institute any official enquiry, but he could
not go on ignoring protests for ever. | What we wanted
was: a set of prominent commissioners accompanied by a
well-known sound lawyer to collect evidence that would
étand any amount of cross-examination in Parliament or in

a court of law.,

¥

For thils purpose the committee voted me £100.,

‘Por the next two months, therefore, whenever I could
get an instant away from my meetings, I spent it on working
at this scheme. No one else on the: Committee seemed to

be very keen abcut it at first.

T am bound: to say thet it was very much harder
than it looked. In the first place: W#om could we trust?
One had to be very careful. As regardsithe lawyer, for
instance, one knew, that so great was the:feeling against
Ireland, five out of every six would be perfectly
capable of going over there in order to find out all
they could, communicate it to the Government, and thus

wreck the whole scheme for ever, It had to be an



- 112 -

English lawyer, - not Irish. Everyone was agreed on ‘
that point. An Irish Commission or an Irish lawyer
would carry no conviction in England, and the influential
people would refuse to serve unless they had a legal

adviser whose name would bear authority.

At the ssme time T knew that the Irish would
absolutely refuse to give evidence unless to people whom
they could absolutely trust. For them it.meant
endangering their lives and their homes and thelr
cause simultaneously. The difficulty was to find a
man or rather a set of meﬁ who would be implicitly
trusted in Ireland and at the same time implicitly
believed in England. This was the 1mpasse;' No
Irishman would: confide in any Englishman, nor ﬁny
Engl;shman believe an Irishman. lMoreover the people
of sufficieﬁt importance and integrity were unwilling to
incur the unpopularity of hawing anything to do with
Sinn Féin as against the Army.

For a lawyer, I begen by trying Sir Charles
Russell. T found him useless. He refused point blank.
He was: a Home Ruler by conviction but not a Sinn Féiner.

And doubtless he had his practice to think of.

Progress: was slow, and remained so until,
fortunately for me Sir John O'Connell appeared in London.
I knew that he, if anyone, éoﬁld give me good advice, and
he d4id. He quite agreed with me: as to the difficulty;
in fact he took a8 less hopeful view than I did. - He
pointed out (what I already felt) that the lives of the
witnesses in Ireland would depend on the importance of
the Commissioners; on their capacity to protect those

who spoke out from being murdered. And he said that
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"~ “nothing was much use" unless the Commissioners would

ﬁhemselves;go_over to Ireland and make'personal
enquiries; that it would be hard to get the people to
trust their secrets, and to fisk }evealing clues
concerning the Sinn Féin organisation, unless they were
Quite certain of the bona-fides of the enquiry. Sir
John struck me as being in low spirits, - as indeed might
be expected from & men living in Dublin, - who felt
himself likely to be raided if nothing else.

However he was ready to help the scheme, and gave
me the name of a London solicitor who would command

confidence in Ireland, a man named MacDonnell.

I cannot remember what Sir John said on this
occasion about the Kennedy and Murphy case. @ He was
over in London several times, and I have rather forgotten
what he told me on.each separate occasion. But as far
as I remember, he took the view that the authorities were
not genuinely anxious to bring the offendefsEto justice, -

. !
as indeed has since been made abundantly evident.

During the next few weeks I went several times
to see Sir John's solicitor namely Mr. J.H. MacDonnell
who struck me as: rather & remarkable person.: He 1s

a nephew of Lord MacDonnell of Swinford and at times

developed an almost ridiculous:likeness to Miss MacDonnell,

But he 1is legal adviser to thé Sinn Féiners in England;
spendsAa.largé share of his time defending-tﬁem at a very
small profit, and is apparently'accépted by Goveﬁnment

in this capacity. S0 he knows the under-sdde of the
movement as well as anyone. I suppose that this thin,
wiry, North of Ireland Cathollc, with his high cheek-bones:
and quick brein, gquick voice and quick tempeﬁ, - nervy to

b
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a. degree, - knows probably more about the devious ways
of either side and could tell more stories of the secret
service, check and countercheck, of force, fraud.and
reprisal and dungeon blackguardism than almost any man
in England. ﬁe had defended innumerable Sinn Féin
prisoners, and was engaged in defending m&nj more when

I called on him.

He seemed pleased to see me; but confirmed almost
2ll that O'Connell had said as regards: difficultles etc.
However, Wﬁen I, put it straight to him whether he would
help us, he said he would, and told me that he knew of
& large number of cases, including thet of the man
with his nails torn out, - only most of themfwere in
prison. He gave me the name of & London solicitor whom
we could trust, &s he himself was rather precluded from
appearing in our scheme, owing to the nature of his
present practice. The London solicitor was & man named
Edwards who was English by birth, Irish by parentage and
sentiment, had served both as a Colonel in the Army and
a Commander in the Home Navel service during the War,
and had lost an eye and won a D.S5.0. He was a man whonm

all could admire.

Well, - to make a long story less. long, - at the
end of a couple of months I had got theeIrish side into
working order. Sir John 0'Connell was: to be chief
organiser in Dublin. Undef his direction there would
be Father Hackett in Eimerick and M. Barry Egan in
Cork, - he being Lord Mayor there in succession to
HacSwiney. In Galway there would be a man named
O*Connell. I had ome or tWo other men in my head for

other districts.
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In England I thought Macﬁonnell the best man,
as he and 0'Connell trusted each other; and Edwards was
to be the s&licitor actually attached %o the Commission.
Acting with him I had found (with the assistance of
Maurice Healey) a y;ung Eriglish barrister named Du Cane

who seemed extremely nice and had a fine war-record.

“The machinery for finding, collecting and testing the

evidence was complete.

But the difficulty was to find the actual
Commissioners. There were in reality very few men in
all Bngland suitable for the work. 0f the Conservatives
one: could get no one except those who llke Lord Henry
were already regarded as: irreconcilable. opponents of the
Government. Of the Liberals;, the great majority were
now Coalitionists; and the rest were all pledged to the
Opposition. Anything that they sald would be regarded
as merely a party move. Similarly with the: Labourites.
They had already published & report and it had been
lapelled ﬁere factionism. Tt seemed to me that the only
people to try for were ex-Colonial governors, distinguished
Civil Servants, celebrated Unlversity prgfessgrs:or
scientists, orretired soldiers., But of these, hardly
any that I could get were sufficlently well-known.

Ang several like Lord Buxton of Newtimber whoﬁ I could
appeal to through his sister, our old ﬁfiend‘Mrsu.GEcil
Boyle, refused to have anything to say to the matier.

I thought that four or five Commissioners would be

sufficient. But I only saw my way to getting two or

three, I thought we: could persuade one of the Bishops

to serve; that Sir Frederick Pollock wasa&,possibility,
and that Lady Sykes: (not as yet committed on paper)
would do for a tnird. After that, perhaps Sir Henry
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Lewson as & soldier, though he was not very satlsfactory,
as his opinions were already kﬁown; or possibly General

Gough might be invited.

At this point the matter was rather suddenly
taken out of my hands by Oswald Mosley who was more or

less second-in-command of our Council. He was an

_excellent man to do the work, as; he was an M.P., the heir

to & baronetey and married to Lord Curzonfs daughter.
Had I ever supposed him to be keen about fhe matter 1
should have appealed to him long before, but‘he had
never shown any great signs of interest in it. =~ Now
however he asked me to come to his house and bring
Edwards and one or two of my other friends..‘ The upshot
was: that with &1l the enthusiasm of youth he threw
himself into the schemé for four or five days and then

went abroad to Italy for three weeks., But during those

four or five days he had done excellent work. Being

an intimate friend of Lord Robert Cecil he had succeeded
in interesting him in the matter, and between them they
managed to persuade old Lord Bryce to give his name to
the Commission, although he refused to becoﬁé a member
of it, on the grounds that he was compelled to go abroad.
This.waé a great step. Lord Bryce's name wéssone to
conjure with in & matter of this soft. Mosley formed &
very strong committee fqr the purpose of selecting a
conference from which the Commissioners should be chosen.
He took over my work as far as it had gone (except
Edwards of whom he disapproved), but did not invite me
to sit on the committee. I was a little hurt at the
time, but when I saw the names of the Committee,

concluded that there was nothing that I could do which
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they could not do as; well without me. It was a very
strong beody. And when the Conference met about a
month later, after Mosley's return, 1 was invited to

become a member of it.

The Conference was perhaps: the most distinguished
body'of which I, who have never aimed at being in public
life, had ever found myself a member. Lord Bryce was
Chairman. I cannot give a.c;mpleﬁe list of those
present, but I recollect Lord Henry Cavendish Bentinck,
Lord Buckmaster (ex-Solicitor General), Sir John Simon -
(ex-Home Secretary), General Sir Bryan Mahon (the
reliever of Mafeking), Bishop Gore, Sir Charles Russell,
Dr. Horton, Lord Robert Cecil, Sir Frederick Pollock,
Oswald Mosley, Basil Willlams, Miss Stopford as
Secretary, and several other distinguished people, Lord
Averdeen, I think, and one or two ladies whom I cannot
now remember, With such & body a&s this one would hafe
thought that some practical result was certain tolensue.
We met several times and I .was much gr&tified at noticing
that everyone, especially Lord Bryce made g.pnint of
being exceedingly civili to me. But unfortunateiy the
results did not ensue. It seemed impossible to find
anyone: who would devote: himself to the: work., | The weeks
dragged on. A large number of distinguished men
wereeihvited but we never*sucéeeded in getting more than
two or three definiteaaceept&nces before the truce:

arrived, of whom the Bishop of Oxford was perhaps the

. most stalwart, I was greatly disappointed, especially

when I thought of Ireland and the poor toértured men

whom I had set out to help., There was only .one
consolation for me, namely that I had done my best for
them, and that if a body containing so many distinguished
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people each &t the very highest rung of his profession
were ungble to achleve success, 1t was not very likely
that I could have done so when I tried at first, a

private individuval, practlically single-hénded.

And, looking back on it now, I wonder whether
in reality 1t produced no resultsi. True, we did not
succeed in persuading these men to sit on our
Commission. But it &id not at all follow they did not
sympathise with its objects., Asa matterféf‘fact
most of: them did sympathise: with us, but.did not like
to take the side opposed to the Army during a war, or
to help in showing up what would undoubtedlj be regarded
as one of the most_disgraceful episodes in English
history. I cannot but think that the fact:of there
being é‘Bryce Commission in process of formation, for
the purpose of doing the: same work of publiecity in
Ireland which had formerly been done in Belgium by Lord
Bryce, must have reached the ears of the: Cabinet, and
cannot have faile&ito’produceagggg,effect. ~ All over
Enéland there were people of the most honourable type
in touch with us; men such as Lord Grey of Falloden
who has; since said that if the war broke out again in
Ireland, he would{certainlx'“come into the: open'. If
the: struggle: had continued aﬁy longer, We:shoulé almost
certainly have persuaded them to come forward and take

their part.
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CHAPTER X11.

. ® .
CROZIER REAPPEARS: NOW BRIG. GENERAL F.P. CROZIER, C.B., C.M.G,,D.5.C

For the short period of three days: I kept a diary
of my ﬁork in the office and then decided that it was &
mistake to do so. Because work frém 10.15 a.m. to 7
or 7.30 p.m, is as much as I can achieve now that I anm
fifty. T can still work in the evenings but only if I
have had{soﬁe free hours during the day. 4And of course
there were plenty of other good reasons for not keepling
a diary Just then. But as that brief effort gives a
fairly clear glimpse of our deaily life during that
rather curious epoch, and moreover happens to describe
the visit of General Crozier to our office, it seems

worth including in this small record.

Tt will be remembered that General -Crozier
resigned'his=commission because elghteen Auxiliaries
whom he had dismissed for looting, were reinstated by
the Government. This was an extraordinary action on the
part of the authorities, and oﬁ.course entirely
subversive of discipline, that discipline which they
professed themselves to be upholding at all costs.

So strange was their declsion that it seemed explicable
only on the: grounds which Crozier alleged, namely that
when the_Auxiliarieé were brought across to London they
blackmailed the Government by threatening, unless(they

were reinstated, to reveal what they knew about the

- -
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¥ For all information about Crozier, V. his own
autoblography. (1954).
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events, whatever the reason may have been, the fact
remains that'they were reinstated and: General Crozier
resigned. But he too was qulite capable of coming to
London. And it was not long before he visited our

office, and several others as well.

I may say that neither we, nor I believe Sinn
F&in ever had much to say to him. The storles which he
told might be true, - and plenty of them certainly were
true, - but one always remembered that some of the worst
murders committed by the Auxiliaries had taken p&ace
during his period of command. He offered to tell me his
whole story privately. But T never availed myself of
the offer. But there were vérious people who heard
~everything that he had to say, and I cannot help
supposing that theat fact must have caused some

considerable uneasiness in Government circles.

Monday. nStamattina sono arrivato dalla campagna per
lavorare éll'urficiom; So runs my diary In its usual
dog-rt&lian.v How déeply it irriteted me to think that
an ordinary respectable law-and-order man like myself, a
pillar of the village church (!) should be reduced to
keeping his: diary with such undignified, Idiotic

precautions.

"This morning. I arrived from the country to work
in the 6ffice. Everyone was: waiting for "Staff". 1
had known nothing of his coming, but he turned up at

about half-past twelve, X

- - g g g e we g e b A W e TR e S O G e e e S W S A e S ok S

¥ That was; in May 1921, I forget the exact'day.
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This translation of my dlary glves a very
slight idea of the way in which 'Staff" as he was
nicknamed for safety, surprised us tha£ morning. We
were absolutely astounded at his boldness. He walked
straight into the office where six of us were congregated,
none of whom hadl he ever seen before, sat down and
opened out at once in a loud voice with the statements
recorded below, Right off the reel he gave us, all
strangers! enough infbrmatfoh to hang three or four of
nis: brother-officers, or else to land himself in pris&n
for jears; Apparently he did not. care three siraws

whether his words were repeated or not.

He. was: a curious little man; reminded me more
of an outside broker (& "bucket-shop™ owner, as they
vulgarly call them in.thé city), th&ﬁ of an officer,
although I believe: he had been in the old army in his
youth. Small, stoutish, and rather pale, with thick
features and a turned-up nose, but smiling and brisk;
rather an adventurer. He told us many most interesting
facts about his life at Dublin Castle. My dilary

continues:

®Tt is; now some three or four weeks since: he’
resigned his appointment because the eighteen Auxiliary
policemen whom he had dismissed for theft, had been
reinstated by the Government. He told us the real
reason for their reinstatement. The fact was that
these eighteen brigands had actually come over to England
to blackmail the Goﬁernmént by threatening that they would
make revelations about all the assassinatlons that had

taken place under the aegis of the English régime, and

' ]
especially about those of Kennedy and Murphy {(the
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Drumcondra murders now under investigation - it will

be remembered that I myself have seen and helped Murphy's
brother while I was in Dublin). - Conseguently the
Government was obliged té reinstate these fuxiliaries,
And "Staff" had therefore resigned. For some time (so
he séid} hé hadi been precluded from speaking out and from-
telling the truth, bécause the 'trial" was due to come on
shortly (the Drumcondra trial),-andihé knew that the
accused officer K(ing) was guilty, and that if "Staff?
had revealed the whole truth K(ing) would be condemned
and executed. Therefore he holds his peace. But he -
s&ys'that in the Castle there had been great alarm. |

It was sai@: 'We suppressed the evidence all right in the
case of Fathéf~Gfiffin, but we can't do it in this case.
We're done for!% Nevertheless wheh the frial began, all
the witnesses Wére prepared to prove an alibl and Kling)
was: acquitted.  Bveryone said that it was the finest

alibi ever seen,

He added that one: officer had told the truth,

'n&mely Freyer. He was: called a perjurer. And that

.in the House. of Commons Colonel Guiness actually put a

question as: to whether::  "the law would not be set in
motion against that perjured officer%*, well-knowlng that

Freyer had spoken théetruth.

| %Staeff™ also told us that Father Griffin had been
killed 5y an officer called Guard (or Garde) and by an
Auxiliary called Barker; the latter had confessed to
®Staff"® himself on board the:steémef.

I asked him why they had killed those two boys:
Kennedy and Murphy; he sald it was because they were

taught to assassinate every Sinn Féiner.



ta

N

Y]

- 123 -

Shortly afterwards my architectural friend%(l}
came in, and I took him out with Miss Stopford to lunch.
He confirmed many of the: above: statements. As regards

the *trial® he said 1t had been impossible to bring the

-truth to light Eecause there were so many witnesses on

the other side, I know this very well. Incidentally
I had given a copy of Mnrpﬂy"s-affid&mit to the Daily
News: for publication, but even the Daily News d4did not
dare to publish 1it. (2) And to—g&y when we have
issued an appeal for funds for our Council, it has;
appeared tucked away in a corner of the paper, almbst

invisdible.

. But I am getting forward with the plan which we
know about. I saw Miss Llewelyn Davies. Qur chilef
(but it was: not our Chief, it was Qswald Mosley) wants
to employ Messrs., Lewis and Lewils. But I do not

believe in this idea. I have found another.

In the evening I received a letter from Mrs.

Corbally describing a case of rape in Ireland, A woman

was raped, and when she made complaint (to the: authorities)

her house: was burnt as a reprisal.

Tuesday. & day of work at the office. I saw my
architectural friend and he told me th@t he had received
a narrative from "Staff' which would arouse twenty

libel actions if énblished. | In the evening I saw our
chief (Lord H, C----.RBx---.) as regards: employing

Lewls and Lewis and he accepted the proposal to employ

- A e S S A - P - A G S g S e e e e - e A S S B A R G G SR IR M g R g e - ———

(1) Cope: soon to become Sir Alfred Cope.

(2) Here I am mistaken. The reason that the D.N. 4id not

publish the affidavit was because 1t had already
appeared in the Manchester Guardian.
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the other man 1nste&d. I showed him Mrs. Corbally's
letter and he said that 1t would be a fine case to begin
with. When talking about "Staff' he said that a friend
of his who was a Yeomanry officer had teld him that
troops in Ireland shot down & Sinn Féiner simply without
bothering about the matter. But that he personally ‘
believed we should have peace before very long. I

told him I wpuld give anything in the world for peace, -
but it must be an honourable peace. This evening I
feel as if I dﬁd not care what I dld; embittered
against the whole human race. All the ideals of my
younger days:; seem to have departed. The Empire 1is
ﬁerely a:systemifOr.establishing domination by means

of murder. Religion in England 1s simply hypocrisy.

Wednesday. A& lqng'day”s work with very little to show
for it. In the morning, our General Sir Henry lLawson,
my companion in Ireland made his appearance, He seemé
to believe almost all that *Staff!' has: told us. He
Invited me to dine with him on thé eleventh to go to
the great Liberal meeting.

I went off with J.L. Hammond to lunch with my
archltectural friend who told us many interesting things'l
about the Castle. He says they all thought that King
would be done for over this murder; that they spoke
guite openly about it and saild it served him right for
using a pistel with so small & bore, when he went out
to kill the two unfortunate boys Kennedy and Mupphy.
'What do you expect when you take a .38 instead of a
L5e,

An extraordinary thing! To-day we could not
find "staff'. He had glven us a wrong address, in fact
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two wrong addresses! He must be in danger of his life
and 1s: covering up hls tracks. It looks as 1f he

slept under a different roof every night; he who until
a few weeks;&go was receiving twelve hundred a year until
he resigned owing to their reinstating the eilghteen =
c&detsfwhom he had dismissed for theft. And now these
elzhteen blackguards will be brought before some military
court and awarded some trifling ridiculoussﬁunishment, -
in order to save the face: of the Government. These

days are hardly imsginable!

Sir John Simon's reply to Lloyd George has
created a great impression., It is a splendid reply.

Most unfortunately my friend MscDonnell does:
not return to London until Saturday. Another week lost!
And T have six large meetings to provide for! I have
no time to find the Commissioners.

To-day in the House of Lords: Lord Parmoor made
a good speech on the Castleconnell eﬁisode. - His
brother had a narrow escape of losing his life in that
fight between the Auxiliaries and the Black and Tans"“.

P e e Y . ¥ T W g e A R I W ol ol Rl el el il sh g

% Crozier gives the number as sixteen, not eighteen
v. his Autobiography (1954).
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CHAPTER X1l11.

THE END

Personally I’always=da£e the beginning of
Greenwood 's: breakdown from a slip he made in the: House
of Cbmmoné on May 30th or 3lst 1921. It was over &
case in Ireland during which two men had been tortured
in prison, just before they appeared in court as '
witnesses:. The judge publicly refused to take thelr
evidencé, as being given under the influence of ill-
treatment. And Sir Hamar Greenwood: was: duly cross-

gquestioned in the House: of Commons about the case.

In replying he actually made the extraordinary
admission that he thought It showed good courage: on
the part of the: judige to havefspoken‘as;he:did.'
Instantly he was asked: Who need the judge be afraid of?
There could be only one:answer,_namely that the judge
stoodi in danger from agents of the: Crown., Here then
was an admlssion absolutely sublime, as coming from a
 Cabinet Minister, firstly that two men had been tortured
in prison: secondly that this had been so serious: that
the judge refused to take their evidence, and had
publicly condemned this hideous: crime; and thirdly that
he, Hamar Greenwood considered the Jjudge courageous to
have: done s0. I'remember how Lord Buckmaster drew our:
attention to this: episode, during the first sitting of
. the conference, with every mark of indignation; and also
‘how magnificently he made hisspnint a week or two later
before a crowded audience at a large meeting at Oxford.

When he had finished, one man in the: crowd tried to
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éhout back at him, but Buckmaster simply_thundere& back
at him with an overwhelming scorn that entirely effaced
him. ®Think of it.  Think, - if you have & mind
at all".,

Meanwhile our daily work at the office went on
as: usual. Our efforts now, as far as they were
constructive, consisted in urging the Government by
every means in our power to meet and negotiate with
Sinn Fé€in. Of course Lloydl George had already
expressed himself willing. to 4o so, but never without
stipulating some condition that was unacceptable.

His principal remaining claim was to except certain
leading Sinn Féiners, on the ground that they had blood
on their hands; that they were murderers.. This of
course Sinn Féin refused to admit. And our conviction

in the Peace wiﬁh Ireland Council was that he was not

justified in making any exceptions.

Personally I saw so plainly what a magnificent
chance lay there, that doubt seemed 1mpossible;' the
chance of making peace forever with Ireland. I knew
how. generation after generation had grown up bitterly
resenting the stigma of the conguered nation; not
necessarily hostile to England, but always pining to
restore their nationzl honour. And here at length was
the opportunity of wiping out that stain for ever.

Eet them make 2n honourable peace. Let them negotiate
while they had arms: in their handé. It would be the
truest course of all, The great, the broad-minded and
the fer-seeing course. It would enable the future
generations to be friends with England. They could say:

We were never forced into the Empire. We: never
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surrendered, . We: came in voluntarily on equal terms.
They could then feel that they rendered willing service,
which 1s the only service worthy of free men..

This: T urged on ny friehds, not as being an
Irishman, but because I genuinely believed in it as
being & chance in a2 thousand of doing right by both sides.

~ Ledy MacDomnell of Swinford who had joined our
Committee was now taking a very active part .in the work.
And I constantly felt an admiration bordering on
astonisnhment when I saw this lady ét\her age: and in her
position, coming out to toil and speak in & cause that

was always uphill work and very unpopular socially.

And doing so from no motive, but sheer enthusiasm for
Ireland,., I came to know her well, and she told‘ me
something of her husbgnd"s career in India; | how ‘he had
gone from ;ane province tc; another, usually organising 6r
reorgenising their administration during the days: when
he and she had often been regarded a&s virtually the
ruling power: over millions of people. She told me of
one great occasion in & province where the land question
was; the prineipal rock of difficulty, when her husband
had called a great assemblage of all the principal men,
and had begun his speech by saying to them: ™"Now I,

who am Irish, can realise: what you feel about-t.he land™;
and had then delivered an address so sympathetic that it
was received almost as if it had been inspired. What

a2 curious and what a fine career his had been!

' I urged Lord MacDonnell to write an account of
his: time in Ireiand, and. to give to the world his views
on the Castle, For a great administrator such as: he,

to critieise and explain the governmental machine in
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Dublin would be profoundly instructive and helpful to
the younger generations. And he could speak with all

the authority of the expert who knows how to work 1t,

and who actually has worked it during several lmportant

yeers., DBut Il fear the idea did not greatly appeal %o
him,

Apropos of his time in Dublin, lLady MacDonnell
told me rather an lnteresting liptle anecdote.
I had asked her about Mr. Balfour's complicity in the
Devolution scheme, and reminded her how, after two
months: evident hesitation, (apparently for fear of_some
letters: being produced), he had finailf risen in the
House of Commons and denied that he ever knew anything
about it. | "Yeg® she said, "My husband was; sitting
in the galiery jﬁst above him, and hed a letter in his

.pocket which would have incriminated Balfour. It would

have created a sensation if my husband had dropped 1t

on his:head“.

However, - to return to the office. We
continued to plod along through thils phenominally hot
summer, Waller, besides his ofher performances, had’
now come out as & speaker, Of' course, owing to the
nature of his work, which consisted in studying the
newspapers all day to get material for speeches or
guestions in the House, there were prcbably few people
in London who knew the subject as well as he. And
he was extraordinarily obliging about speaking at any
meeting, even &t the shortest notice, I remember too,
how good I thought it of my old friend John Boland,
formerly a Nationalist M.P., to come forward and épeak
for us, even at the: most unattractive meetings. He

had devoted his.whole life to Ireland; only to be cast

-
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off when Ireland got self-government. Yet he was

ready to do the spade-work required.

Then, -~ rather unexpectedly though some of us

had noticed indications, there: came THE TRUCE.

I well remember our feelings:, but they are’

hard to describe.

I think the first general sentiment wés.that
we could hardly trust it: it was too good to be
true. Will it last? .What ought we to do to
clinch it, to make it permanent?

Most of us: thought we ought to redouble
our activities, Then we decided that we had
better consult the best suthorities that we knew.
We split up into several groups, and went off to
talk matters: over. And when we came: back there was

only one opinion; that we had better do nothing.

A1l the best advisers that we could consult
were of the same opinion: "Do nothing. Something

has; happened. We do not know what. The Government

were just preparing a big offensive, and now they
have reversed their policy. You do not know: what
it is, and if you take action, you may make serious
difficulties", |

This: was the opinion given me by everyone
at Liberal Headguarters,. They attributed the
truce either to some move in America, or to some

action by the: Colonial premiers. Personally I



€ ")' &

¥ B

€ o n

- 131 -

thought it very possible that several things had

happened simultaneously, both abroad and at home. X

We felt more hopeful about cdnditions in England

than ever before.

There was no doubt that the poliitical atmosphere
was entirely different from that in which we had begun
our work nine months: before. In every branch of our
small organisation we felt 1t. :We had not succeeded
in winning over the Press. Most of the great
newspapers: were still opposed to us. meerthelesé
people believed what we said. Primarily of course
this was due to the extraordinary steadfastness of
Sinn Féin and indeed of the whole Irish people.
Primarily it was: due entirely to them. Fut we felt
as if we had beenm of some assistance by our work in

England, by creating an atmosphere of peace.

To give an idea of the changed conditions in
England, one need only refer to the results now
obteinable in each particular department of our Council.
With regard to my meetingss,” for instance, I well
remember how carefully we had been obliged to proceed
at first. How nervous had been the organisers.

How scrupulously cautious: the speakers. Whereas now,

% As far as I have been able to learn, (October 1922)
the Peace was due: firstly, to the persistence of the
Sinn Féin resistance, and their suceess in getting arms;
secondly to the work (largely attributable: to Colonel
Hoore who had gone to South Africa. as delegate to General
Smuts) of the Colonial premiers who attacked Lloyd George;
thirdly T think to our own work, as given 1n the text;
and I mey add that I have since been told by the Editor
of the Sunday Times that peace came largely beceuse the
Army began to refuse to work. He said that in one
regiment alone, no less than eleven officers sent in
their papers when ordered to Ireland: and this was not -
an Irish regiment. Fourthly there was Amerlca; Its
commission and various other activities. I.heard that
over a million copies of this Comnission®é report were
sold.
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.during the previous fortnight at lady MacDonnell's

suggestion, we had run a campaign of thirtj—threé
meetings in ten days all over London, and.every one

of them out-of-doors. Open-air addresses to which any
pesser-by might come and at which our speakers said
anything they liked without being even once seriously
interrupted. A&nd various colleges of quite important

status were applying tor me for lectures on Ireland.

' 8imilarly in Parliament the whole tone had
altered. Wallef's constant flow of information for
his clique of M.Ps., accompanied by searching questions
had revealed the ﬁruth to everyone. About this branch
Oswald Mosley was enthusiastic. =~ He said: "Why at
first you could not tell them anything withbut being
shouted down. | But now you can attack them and say

what you like and they don"t even answer."

Our literature was constantly asked for, usually
by peopie who were entire stirangers. it was perhaps
our strongest point. I have already set forth a iist
of the well-known writers who had given us their work

and their names from sheer good-will to our cause.

And finally, - which seemed to me an excellent
sign, -« we had now about thirty branches of our Council
established all over England. This was largely due
to Grey, whose efforts in this respect had been
absolutely invaluable, But it was really remarkable
that so many local people should have been willing to
imperil their populardity by raising and forming local
organisations; subordinate to our London committee, and
with the perfect knowledge that there was no kind of
reward to be obtained for all their troublesome Work.
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In some cases 1t took two or even three months of
constant toil and expense'before the Branch was finally
formed; and often in the face of the bltterest

opposition from influential people.
At all events the truce had arrived at last.

A few weeks later Miss Stopford resigned her
secretaryship and went to live in Ireland. Baslil
Williams accepted a lectureship at McGlll University'
in Canada. Waller became secretary. And I was
obliged to take my wife abroad for her health, to

Italy where I now am.

But before leaving I went across to Irelan& for
a fortnight. People were extraordinarily kind there.
I saw the Childers &nd. all those with whonm I had beéen in
touch and many old friends. They gave mé a ticket for
the first meeting of D&il fireann after the truce,
It was most interesting. ‘And I believe it was the
first day in the life of the new Ireland about which we

have dreamed for so many years,

" Signed:

Date:

Witness:

BUREAU gf MILITARY o
BURO STAIRE BILT 74 1013-21
- PRy

STONY 1913.97
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LIST OF THE PRINCIPAL SPEAKERS FOR THE PZACE WITH TRELAND COUNCIL.

CONSERVATIVES.

Lord Henry Cavendish Bentinqk.M}P.
% Lord Ffrench.

Lord Monteagle (Chairman London Committee of Irish
Dominion League).

Oswald Mosley Esq. M.P.
. ¥ The: Right Hon. Sir Horace Plunkett. K.C,V.Q,
-~ H, Hull Esq.

Aubrey Herbert.

LS
"
o -,

Philip Morrell Esq, (Lord Henry's brother-inplaw).
LIBERALS.

x The Rt. Hon. F.D. §c1and-MdP;

Capt. Agnew (Hon. Sec. London Committee of I.D.L.)
Captain Wedgwoodt Benn, D.S.0. D.F.C. M.P.

Annan Bryce Esq. (ex—M.P;

Lieut. General Sir Hubert Gough, K.C.B.

# J.L. Hammond Esq. (well-known writer).
Maurice Healey Esq.

Commander the: Hon. J.M. Kenworthy M P.

% Lieut. Generzl Sir Henry Lawson K.C,B.
The Right Hon. C.F.G. Masterman, P.C.
Mr, Dbran- '

Lord Buckmaster.
¥ Sir John Simon.

- e g - - o an -

# Those who did most for us.
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LABOUR.

J. Lawson Esq. M.P.

#® H.W. Nevinson Esg. (the writer and war-
correspondent).

. & Brig. General Thomson D.S.0.

Charles Roden Buxton,
NON-PARTY.

Bishop Gore.

x
¥ Captain Henry Harrison, O.B.E. N.C.
#® R.C. Grey Esq.

x

- Norman Esqg. éSpe&ker'for Sin*Hor&ce
Plunkett's Co-operative organisation
~ in TIreland).
- Grogan Esq.
Comm, Guy Rogers M.C.
® John Boland (ex-M,P,}
x;‘B.C. Waller,
Mr. Neadham-KSheffiel&J;
G. Bingham MecGuinness.
Captain Sheehan.
Dr. COrchard,
. Br. Garvie.
" Bishop of' Kensington.
e jor B. Teeling.
Bishop of Oxford.

CONSERVATIVES,

X Lady'(mark).Sykes.'
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LIBERALS.

¥ Lady Aberdeen,

®

LABOUR.

¥*®.

¥

Mrs. F.D, Acland. -

Laedy Bonham Carter.

The: Hon. Margaret Buckmﬁater.
Lady Byles.

Mrs. McKenna.

® Miss Margaret Bondf'ield.

Mrs., Crawford. gy
Miss Susan Lawrence.
Miss Maude Royden.

Miss Evelyn Sharpe..

NON-PARTY .
- ® Lady MacDonnell of Swinford,

® The Hon. Anne lMaeDonnell.

# Lady Clare Ampnesley.

A
B
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BUREAU GF RILITARY 113TORY 1913-21
BURD STAIRE fHiLi"

191321
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APPENDIX 11. No. W.S. g g &

- Copy of & letter from Lord Henry Cavendish Bentinck

received when I was obliged to give up my work in the
Peace with Ireland Council, 1n order to take Mrs,

Berkeley abroad for her health. (I did not go until

I knew that the Peace Conference was fixed between

Sinn Pé&in and the British Government, September 1921.

Underley Hall,
Kirby Lonsdale.

Sep. 12.

My dear Berkeley,

Thank you for your very kind letter. It is &
sad blow to hear that (you) cannot help us: much more.
I am sure I can speak on behalf of the Council when
T thank you most heartily for all you have done.

The Success of our work was due very largely to your
devotion, self-sacrifice and ability. I hope the
ship: 1s now entering safe anchorage! We shall know
in a day or two. The Government has no other choice
but to offer the complete restoration of the ancient
Kingdon of Ireland. Somehow 1 feel confident that
the solution will take this form. The kingdon of
Ireland should surely appeal to their imagination,
particularly if accompanied by virtual independence,

i

Yours sincerely,

(8igned) Henry Bentinck.



